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2 Performance report 

2.1 Overview  

2.1.1 Statement from the Accountable Officer and Clinical Chair 
 
Welcome to the NHS Darlington Clinical Commissioning Group’s (CCG) 2015/16 annual 
report. We work together with our partners to ensure that our population receives the 
highest quality of care and the best possible health outcomes. As a clinically-led 
membership organisation, made up of 11 GP practices, we are in a good position to 
understand the needs of our patients and improve the delivery of services.  
 
During our third year as a CCG we have continued to progress our ambitious plans for 
services in the town and have been delighted with the interest and insight our patients and 
partners have offered during our engagement events throughout the year. Your feedback 
continues to inform and shape our transformation plans, as well as guide our priorities in 
the delivery of good standards of performance. 
 
We continue to foster closer working relationships with voluntary and community sector 
groups and this year we encouraged them to apply for a £50,000 Community Innovations 
Fund. It was fantastic to see how the winning projects used the funding to improve the 
lives of people in Darlington, demonstrating how small investments lead to huge rewards 
and improve communities at a grass roots level. 
  
This year we have faced considerable financial and performance challenges. Despite this 
the CCG is reporting a required surplus of £1.768 million and is working closely with all 
providers to deliver high quality, safe and patient centred care.  
 
We have a hugely positive working relationship with Primary Healthcare Darlington (PHD) 
which is a true collaboration of all 11 GP practices working together for the benefit of 
patients. From 1 April 2016 we are taking on fully delegated commissioning of primary 
medical services. The decision to do this is based upon the positive changes working 
together had brought to date. Together we have delivered a range of pilot services under 
the Prime Ministers Challenge Fund to improve access to general practice. GPs in 
Darlington are working together in new and innovative ways and this greater sharing of 
clinical expertise is improving the primary care and community services we offer to 
patients. 
 
Looking forward we are transforming the way that health services, care and support are 
provided through our multi-disciplinary teams to achieve our vision of a patient-centred 
approach to providing care in the community or at home, improving patient and carer 
experience and preventing unnecessary admissions to hospital. This was funded by the 
Better Care Fund which has enabled the CCG to work with Darlington Borough Council to 
transform the way we care for older people in the Borough. Working closely with our social 
care colleagues we have seen a steady reduction of unplanned admissions to hospital and 
our aim is to ensure this trend continues. 
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I would like to take this opportunity to thank our partners and member practices for all their 
hard work throughout 2015/16 and our patients and families for helping us to shape and 
prioritise service improvements during the year. We look forward to continuing to work on 
behalf of our communities during the coming year. 
 
 
 
 
Ali Wilson        Andrea Jones 
Accountable Officer      Chair 
 
 

2.1.2 About NHS Darlington Clinical Commissioning Group 
 
We are NHS Darlington Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). We are a member 
organisation, comprising 11 GP practices. We were established on 1 April 2013 
following a comprehensive reorganisation of the NHS as part of the Health and Social 
Care Act 2012.  In 2015/16, we had a total annual budget of £146 million which we 
received from NHS England. 
 
We are the NHS organisation responsible for commissioning (planning and buying) the 
majority of health services on behalf of our local population and from 1 April 
2015 we have also been responsible for commissioning primary care (GP) services in 
partnership with NHS England. 
 
Our aim is to ensure that the health services we commission from providers (such as 
County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust) are of the highest quality and 
are good value for the money we spend on your behalf. 
 

‘Our objective is to commission healthcare that will improve health outcomes, 
reduce health inequalities and ensure fair and equitable access to high quality, 

safe, patient-centred services.’ 
 
 
We are one of the smallest CCGs in the country, with 11 member practices spread 
across a compact borough.  Every week, our practices see around 11,500 
patient’s – that’s over 11% of our local practice population!  
 
Our strategic aims are to: 

 
• improve the health status of the people of Darlington; 

• secure the right services in the right place for the people of Darlington; 

• invest in primary care and services; 

• secure meaningful engagement with people. 
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To be effective we will need to address the needs of the changing age profile of the 
population of Darlington and manage our resources effectively. We will do this by 
working in partnership with our clinicians and involving our local communities, ensuring 
they have a voice. 

2.1.3 Our legal status 
 
NHS Darlington CCG came into being as an NHS Statutory Body on 1 April 2013. The 
CCG was granted legal status by NHS England in March 2013, effective as of 1 
April 2013, and following the mandated authorisation process which all CCGs 
undertook during 2012/13. 
 
We were able to demonstrate that we met all requirements for authorisation and so had 
no conditions of authorisation applied to us. 
 

2.1.4 Where can you find us 
 
Our corporate headquarters are at Dr Piper House, King Street, Darlington, DL3 6JL. We 
are supported by NHS North of England Commissioning Support Unit, which provides 
many of our administrative and commissioning functions. 

2.1.5 The population we serve 
 
Our 11 family GP practices serve a population of 107,318 patients, many of which face 
significant health challenges. 
 
Deprivation is higher than average and about 20.6% (4,100) children live in poverty. 
 
Life expectancy is 11.8 years lower for men and 9.4 years lower for women in the 
most deprived areas of Darlington than in the least deprived areas of the town (2015). 
 
Health profiles for Darlington tell us that improvements in child health are needed, 
including achieving a healthy weight. The rate of alcoholic-specific hospital stays for 
under 18s was 84.8 (per 100,000 population), worse than the England average. 
Levels of breastfeeding and smoking at time of delivery are also worse than the 
England average. 
 
Adult obesity is greater than average, are the rate of hospital stays resulting from 
alcohol and self-harm. Smoking related deaths are also a health issue in Darlington.  
 
The North East has the second highest rate of alcohol related deaths for men and 
women in England. Tackling alcohol related health harm is a real challenge and is 
one of our key priorities along with giving every child the best possible start in life and 
promoting mental health and wellbeing. 
 
Poor adult nutrition and low levels of physical activity contribute to higher rates of 
obesity, diabetes and blood pressure. 

2.1.6 Partnership working 
 
In order to improve health and reduce inequalities, the CCG has worked closely with a 
number of partners across the Borough. The CCG is represented in a range of 
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partnerships, some are statutory and others are affiliations or networks of partner 
organisations for a specific issue or community. 
 
The CCG as a ‘Responsible Authority’ is a member of the Local Safeguarding Children’s 
Board (LSCB), Safer Adults Partnership Board (SAPB), and Community Safety 
Partnership (CSP). The CCG has been a key member of the Darlington Health and 
Wellbeing Board since its establishment in shadow form. The Health and Wellbeing 
Board promotes integration and partnership working between health, social care and 
other agencies.  Dr Andrea Jones is Vice Chair of the Darlington Health and Wellbeing 
Board. 
 
The Health and Wellbeing Strategy , ‘One Darlington: Perfectly Placed ‘ sets the direction 
for the various organisations working together within the Darlington Strategic Partnership 
and the Health and Wellbeing Board .The Health and Wellbeing Strategy has eight key 
outcomes , the CCG contributes to some elements more than others , nevertheless its 
contribution is recognised by partners as significant. 
 

• Children with the best start in life - the CCG commissions midwifery services and a 
range of other care services which contribute to this outcome. The CCG worked in 
partnership with the Council and NHS England to see a smooth transition of the 0-
19 Public Health responsibilities to the Council in 2015.  

 
• A safe and caring community - the CCG is a Responsible Authority on the 

Community Safety Partnership and ratified the revised Community  Safety Plan , 
‘One Darlington : Perfectly Safe’ in 2015.The ‘safeguarding’ responsibilities of the 
CCG in relation to both children and adults is reflected in the description of the 
relevant Boards. 

 
• More people active and involved - there are 2 aspects to this outcome one is a 

focus on addressing the key risk factors that contribute to the life expectancy gap , 
the other is on community connectedness , community facilities and assets  and 
neighbourhood regeneration. The CCGs communication and engagement strategy 
reflects its responsibilities for engagement with a diverse range of groups in the 
population. The community council for patients, public and carers was refreshed in 
2015/16 in order to ensure we have a wide range of community champions 
connected to a diverse range of sectors of the community. 

 
• More people healthy and independent - a development of the above outcome, a 

focus on tackling health inequality and the work to develop new models of care, as 
described in the Vision 2010 and the Better Care Fund schemes of work. 

 
• More businesses and more jobs - the NHS 5 Year Forward View urges CCGs to 

engage with local economic strategies and act as partners in the economic growth 
of the place. The CCG is keen to further develop mechanisms to contribute via its 
involvement in the Darlington Strategic Partnership. The Darlington Strategic 
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Partnership is a broad network including the CCG, Council, Police, Fire and 
Rescue, community and voluntary service representatives and business leaders. 

 
• More people caring for our environment - whilst the focus of this element of the 

Health and wellbeing Strategy is on environmental aspects of the Borough,the CCG 
has a role to play in making sure that NHS Sustainability Strategy takes account of 
local environmental plans.  The evidence base is growing for the links between 
sustainable transport, walking, cycling safely and green spaces and health 
improvement. 

• Enough support for people when needed - the CCG makes a strong contribution to 
this element of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy, for example the Long Term 
Conditions collaborative and its focus in 2015 on respiratory illness; the Better Care 
Fund which has a focus on those who are most at risk of admission to hospital or 
high users of urgent and emergency care services; the Good Friends volunteering 
project, and the work the CCG is leading across the Region on Muscular 
Skeletal conditions. 

A place designed to thrive - this outcome is about creating the environmental and 
infrastructure needed to deliver most of the other outcomes. This includes the arts and 
cultural offer too.  The CCG contribution is largely described above, however the CCG was 
a crucial partner in the application to the Department of Health to become a pilot site for 
the NHS England programme of 'Healthy New Towns’.  Darlington was selected as one of 
10 demonstrator sites in England, and the subsequent work will be included in the CCG 
Annual report 2016/2017. 
 
The CCG provides regular updates to the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWBB)on key 
areas of delivery and assurance and has led or jointly led number of HWBB development 
sessions for example the 2020 vision and the Darlington Blue print development session. 
Andrea Jones formally presented the CCG Annual Report and Accounts for 2014/15 to the 
Board in July 2015.  
 
The Darlington Strategic Partnership is a broad network including the CCG, Council, 
Police, Fire and Rescue, community and voluntary service representatives and business 
leaders. The Sustainable Community Strategy ‘One Darlington: Perfectly Placed’ is also 
the Health and Wellbeing Strategy for the Board. 
 
The CCG is a partner organisation in a range of other networks, with an issue or thematic 
focus, e.g. Substance Misuse Partnership, Mental Health Network, Children and Young 
People’s Collective and Darlington Ageing Well Network (DAWN). 
 
In 2014/15 the CCG was invited to join the Darlington Borough Council’s Chief Officers 
Board: Public Health Group. This is a network concerned with public health issues, 
planning and developments. As part of this group we have developed a Darlington 
blueprint to deliver the 2020 Vision. 
 
In June 2015 Darlington Chief Officers held a Health Summit, a joint event with 
Darlington Borough Council aimed at a wide number of stakeholders and attended by 
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key local decision makers including Chief Executive Officers and Chief Officers from the 
health, local authority and Third Sector. The Summit reflected on the exciting changes 
that are happening through the integration of health and social care which will deliver 
better health, better care in an affordable way. The Summit celebrated what has been 
achieved so far and also considered future ambitions and challenges. 
 
Better Health Programme 
The Better Health programme is about how the NHS in Darlington, Durham and Tees can 
improve outcomes and experience for patients when they need care, especially in an 
emergency. 
 
We recognise that the NHS faces a number of challenges over the next 5 – 10 years.  
We are living longer and have different conditions and health needs: dementia, obesity 
and cancer, as well as alcohol-related disease, have become major challenges. 
More of us will have one or more long-term health conditions, especially as we get older 
and frailer and need support and management, sometimes for many years. 
We are fortunate to have good care from our GPs and hospitals, but we are aware that the 
way we deliver care does not always meet nationally recognised standards and there are 
times when people do not have a good experience in our care. 
 
The Better Health programme brings together Clinical Commissioning Groups and hospital 
Foundation Trusts across Durham, Darlington and Teesside.  
100 senior clinicians, including hospital consultants and GPs, have been looking at how 
we can provide more care outside of hospital, and closer to people’s homes; and how to 
make sure patients get the best care when they need to go to hospital.   
 
It can take many years to train a specialist and so we need to get better at predicting what 
skills we will need in the future. To make the best use of the expertise we have now, 
building on the improvements that have been made in treatment for heart attacks, stroke, 
and major trauma, we need to improve access to specialist care in an emergency, and 
increase networking between hospital teams. 
 
We will be sharing ideas and seeking views in the coming months, prior to a period of 
formal consultation with members of the public on new models of care from November 
2016 onwards.   
 
For more information on the Better Health Programme, or to attend a public event to have 
your say, please visit the website at www.nhsbetterhealth.org.uk. 
 

2.1.7 Commissioning priorities for 2015/16 
 
2015/16 saw us continue to build upon the foundations of our first two years as a statutory 
body. We have consolidated the work we have done to achieve greater partnership 
working with the local authority and other partners in the health economy, with the aim 
being to improve the health of our local population and deliver high standards of patient 
care. Established against a backdrop of economic uncertainty we expect the next few 
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years to be equally challenging, yet we are excited about the future opportunities we have 
to work with our key partners to improve health services in Darlington. 
 
We are working in collaboration with Darlington Borough Council, County Durham and 
Darlington NHS Foundation Trust, Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust, 
and primary care to deliver improved health and social care services that are sustainable 
for the future.  Collectively we have pledged to the following principles: 
 

• We will work collectively as a collaboration of commissioners and providers; 

• The interests of the patient are paramount and at the centre of what we do; 

• Because we recognise a Darlington health economy, individual organisational 
interest will not get in the way of improvements for the patient; 

• Where improvements adversely affect our partners, we will manage the 
impact as well as the improvement; 

• Transitional change can require periods of contractual stability in order to 
realise long term improvements; 

• Good practice and examples of best care and support will be spread for the 
benefit of all; 

• Our population, patients and staff will be proud of what the health and social care 
system provides; 

• By adhering to these principles, we agree that there should be no surprises. 
 

 
Our commissioning intentions allow us to formally notify our patients, carers, 
stakeholders and the general public of our plans for the short term – aligned to a two-
year and five year plan. This usually involves the continuation of work that has 
commenced already, statutory and mandatory elements that we MUST cater for, any 
newly identified priorities along with scoping and reviews that will help to inform our 
future commissioning intentions. 

 
This commissioning intention also seeks to deliver the ‘2020 Vision for Health and Social 
Care in Darlington’, NHS England’s ‘Five Year Forward View’ and ‘Next Steps for Co-
commissioning’ along with the Dalton Review, all of which will inform and focus our 
strategic direction and priorities. 

 
The CCG and Darlington Borough Council aspire to pool budgets in addition to the 
Better Care Fund, in the interests of making more effective use of public funding in 
Darlington through joint commissioning and contracting of services. 
 

20/20 Vision for Health and Social Care in Darlington 
The CCG has worked with Healthwatch Darlington, Darlington Borough Council, Tees, Esk 
and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust, County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation 
Trust, Primary Healthcare Darlington and the local voluntary and community sector to 
develop a shared vision of what health and social care could look like in Darlington in five 
years’ time and how we can deliver an NHS service that is accessible 24 hours a day with 
access to GP services 12 hours a day, seven days a week. 
 



NHS Darlington Clinical Commissioning Group annual report and accounts 2015/16 

Page 10 of 104 
 

 
 
CCG work stream delivery – prioritising commissioning intentions 
The CCG has introduced four work streams to focus on improvement work. They are in-
hospital, not in hospital, children, families and young people and mental health & learning 
impairment. They create a clear link from the delivery plans to CCG performance and 
outcomes framework. They were developed by the CCG Task and Finish Group and also 
the Members Assembly who carried out an analysis of the projects outlined in the delivery 
plan. Each work stream has a CCG lead and managerial support and the work has been 
kick started with a logic modelling session per work stream which prioritises 
commissioning projects and agrees on public engagement. 
 

2.1.7.1 Darlington Unit of Planning 
The Unit of Planning was established to set common goals and work closely together to 
develop services in Darlington that will help people live longer, healthier lives. The group 
comprises Darlington CCG, Darlington Borough Council, and various NHS health and 
social care partners. The unit shares an ‘Ambition for Excellence’ that delivers right care, 
in the right place, at the right time and with no waste.  The Unit of Planning is key to the 
delivery of our vision that will be delivered over the following five years. We will fully 
involve local people and stakeholders as we move forward with this agenda. 

2.1.8 Primary care delegated commissioning and working with GP practices 
 
Darlington CCG agreed a co-commissioning model with NHS England for Primary Care 
Medical Services (i.e. GP services) referred to as joint commissioning. It is a step on 
the journey towards a more “place based” approach to commissioning. The Darlington 
Joint Commissioning Committee was established in April 2015 as a committee of the 
Governing Body and is there to carry out functions relating to the commissioning of 
primary medical services, delegated to that committee by NHS England.  
 
Joint commissioning means that the CCG plans and make primary care commissioning 
decisions jointly with NHS England. This arrangement presents the CCG with the 
opportunity to ensure Primary Care services are central in the planning and 
development of care outside of hospital.  
 
The purpose of primary care co-commissioning is to enable clinically-led, local solutions in 
response to local Joint Strategic Needs Assessments (JSNAs) and Joint Health and 
Wellbeing strategies. Co-commissioning is one of a series of changes set out in the NHS 
Five Year Forward View, as a key driver in developing seamless, integrated out-of-hospital 
services based around the diverse needs of the local population.  
 
Following a successful year working closely with NHS England, the CCG will take on fully 
delegated commissioning of primary medical services with effect from 1 April 2016. 

2.1.8.1 Primary Healthcare Darlington (PHD) 
PHD, which is a true collaboration of all 11 GP practices in Darlington working together for 
the benefit of patients, was established following a successful bid in wave one of the Prime 
Ministers Challenge Fund. In April 2014. The challenge fund enabled GPs in the town to 
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form the local federation, Primary Healthcare Darlington (PHD). PHD was responsible for 
delivering a range of pilot services under the Challenge Fund to improve access to general 
practice.  
 
This has been a fantastic opportunity for our GP practices to work in a more collaborative 
way for the benefit of our patients. In early 2015, PHD were successful with a further bid 
for PMCF Sustainability funds which has allowed the following services to be extended 
until March/April 2016. 
 

• Routine appointments to see a GP on a Saturday with the addition of nurse 
appointments for bloods, blood pressure checks, dressings, smears, ear syringing, 
NHS Health Checks for 40-74 year olds and some chronic disease monitoring 

 
• The evening telephone advice service via NHS 111, enabling patients to speak to a 

local GP for advice between 6pm and 10pm, Monday to Friday 
 
PHD are also piloting a Sunday GP ‘Hospital to Home’ service run from the Acute Medical 
Admissions Unit at Darlington Memorial Hospital. Local Darlington GPs are supporting 
consultant colleagues on the ward in facilitating early but safe discharges, ensuring the 
necessary health and social care provision is available to meet individual patient needs.   
 
The project aims to future proof GP surgeries in the town by improving collaborative 
working between practices, sharing the expertise of local GPs and focusing on the 
needs of the town’s frail and elderly population. 
 
As part of the new ways of working, GPs in Darlington, supported by the CCG, have 
made progress in exploring new ways of working. This includes: 
 
Collaborative working 
GP practices will be looking at working together to offer appointments to patients from 
neighbouring practices, to offer improved flexibility for patients when their own practice is 
busy, and to help practices in managing peaks in demand. 
 

In addition, a limited number of weekend GP appointments are available for patients in 
Darlington. 
 
Sharing clinical experience 
GPs with a special interest will be able to see patients from other practices in the town, 
without the need for a referral to hospital.  This flexible approach aims to reduce the 
strain on local hospitals such as Darlington Memorial. 

Better Care Fund 
The Better Care Fund creates a local single pooled budget to incentivise the NHS and 
local government to work more closely together around people, placing their wellbeing 
as the focus of health and care services. 
 
In December 2014, £3.9 million of existing health funding was allocated through the 
Better Care Fund to a partnership of Darlington CCG and Darlington Borough Council to 
transform the way we care for older people in the Borough and transform the way that 
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health services, care and support are provided through our multi- disciplinary teams 
(MDT’s). Our vision is to provide a patient-centred approach to; 
 

• improve patient and carer experience; 

• provide more effective care planning and packages centred on individual 
needs; 

• provide care in the community or at home where preferred 

• increase self-management; 

• increase involvement of the voluntary and community sector; 

• prevent unnecessary acute admissions/re-admissions to hospital; 

• reduce the length of stay (e.g. through multi-disciplinary teams starting to 
support patients prior to their discharge from hospital); 

• reduce the number of patients transferred to long term care. 
 
It is clear that the improvements in care from the new approach are reducing 
unplanned hospital admissions. 
 
The BCF has enabled an innovative approach to reducing unnecessary and often 
unwelcome hospital stays to come to fruition, with targets on track to be exceeded.  A 
partnership, consisting of Darlington GPs, Darlington Borough Council’s Social Care 
Service, NHS Darlington Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), Darlington Memorial 
Hospital, Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust and Darlington’s voluntary 
sector has been working together to make sure older people get appropriate care to stay 
safe and healthy at home, avoiding unplanned stays in hospital.   
 
No-one likes going to hospital and if we are smart at getting in early and managing 
people’s conditions where they live, it is better for the individual.  It all hinges on all the 
different services working together round the person and trying to make sure we 
coordinate our work in their interests.  Our ‘multi-disciplinary team’ approach is directed at 
working out how best to help people most at risk of an unplanned hospital admission stay 
out of hospital when there is a more effective and desirable place for them to receive the 
care and treatment they need.   
 
Some of the new practices that have been implemented since this time last year, intended 
specifically to reduce avoidable admissions, include: 
 

• Practice-based multi-disciplinary team (MDT )discussions focusing on patients at 
high risk of admission to hospital and taking appropriate pro-active action involving 
primary care, social care, mental health, and community/voluntary services 

• Rapid assessment of high risk patients being managed by MDT, referred on a 
Saturday or Sunday, through the Rapid Assessment Medical Access Clinic-based 
rapid assessment unit  

• Work with North East Ambulance Service (NEAS) to prevent care-home residents 
being transferred to hospital unnecessarily, using Emergency Health Care Plans 
and Pro-active care-home liaison through community matrons aligned with homes 

• Involving voluntary and community groups in providing services locally 
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In every quarter for the past year, there have been fewer unplanned admissions to hospital 
than the year before, and in every month since February this year there have been fewer 
again than the same month in 2015, and the most recent figures show this trend 
continuing. 
 

2.1.9 Urgent healthcare delivery 
 
In September 2015 the CCG agreed the Country Durham and Darlington Urgent Care 
Strategy and committed to ensure the local urgent care pathway is implemented in line 
with the principles agreed within this strategy. This together with further developing our 
ambition to secure high quality services outside of hospital has been a key area of work 
described in the Darlington 2020 vision.  The main focus of the model is the availability of 
a range of community based services including pharmacy, promotion of self-care, NHS 
111, GP Paramedic Support, extended primary care joined up with secondary community 
care services providing a timely and effective service to patients who are quickly and 
safely directed to access the relevant service to meet their presenting health needs. For 
those with urgent needs they will be quickly and safely directed to attend an urgent care 
service and those will serious or life threatening health conditions will be quickly, safely 
and effectively assessed and treated in an Emergency Department.  
 

2.1.9.1 Urgent and Emergency Care Vanguard 
In July 2015, the North East Urgent Care Network (NEUCN) was confirmed as one of eight 
new urgent and emergency care vanguards which the CCG is part of. The programme is 
an important part of the NHS Five Year Forward View, which sets out the health, quality of 
care and funding gaps that will open up if the NHS does not change.  
The vanguard represents a commitment across providers and commissioners across the 
North East to improve all aspects of urgent care delivery. 
 

2.1.9.2 Commissioning Standards for Integrated Urgent Care 
In September 2015 NHS England published the Commissioning Standards for the 
commissioning of functionally integrated 24/7 urgent clinical assessment, advice and 
treatment service. The standards bring together NHS 111, GP out-of-hours and clinical 
advice under a single commissioning framework. They support the CCG to deliver the 
transformation of urgent care services as set out in Sir Bruce Keogh’s Urgent and 
Emergency Care Review and the Five Year Forward. The CCG will use these standards to 
assure that our local plans for urgent care meet these standards and are captured in our 
future plans.  

2.1.9.3 Strategic Resilience Group 
There is currently a national focus on urgent and emergency care services across 
England. In response to this, the County Durham and Darlington System Resilience 
Group (which the CCG is a member of) has been established. The System 
Resilience Group (SRG) is a forum of partners from across the health and social care 
system who come together to undertake the regular planning of service delivery and 
effective resilience. The SRG maintains an oversight of the health and social care 
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system and enables the integration of effective high quality accessible services. In 
2015/6 the SRG has: 
  

• developed and signed off operational resilience and capacity plans by involving 
all key local organisations, in order to fulfil both planning requirements and to 
ensure a good system working in the future; 

• developed an over-arching Urgent Care Strategy specifically focusing on the 
standards in Everyone Counts 2015/16 to 2019/20. The strategy sets out a joint 
vision and patient centred principles, together with solutions to achieving them. 

2.1.9.4 Co-location of the Urgent Care Centre 
As part of the work being taken forward to integrate the urgent and emergency care 
pathway, the CCG is working in conjunction with County Durham and Darlington NHS 
Foundation Trust, to co-locate 24/7 Urgent Care at Darlington Memorial Hospital that will 
deliver Urgent Care and Emergency Department services side by side. 
 
Our vison is to provide a fully integrated service will provide local people with equitable 
access to high quality, safe and effective urgent and emergency care services at the 
right time and in the right place.  

2.1.9.5 Tackling winter pressures 
We have worked closely with local partners to ensure funding is available to reduce winter 
pressures on local emergency services. We secured additional services at Darlington 
Memorial Hospital for the period October 2015 to March 2016 as the service anticipated 
increased admissions to hospital due to slips and trips and cold related illnesses. 
 
A Darlington GP was based in the admissions unit at the hospital on Saturdays and 
Sundays to support staff in ensuring patients get the best possible treatment and help 
make the transition from hospital to home safe, with appropriate follow up care plans in 
place. An evening GP telephone advice service was in place to take non-emergency calls 
where the GP, with full access to the patient’s medical record, would decide the most 
appropriate management for that patient; this could be self-management advice, arrange 
an appointment at their own practice the next morning, arrange a prescription for collection 
from their own surgery or organise an appointment at the Urgent Care Centre that 
evening.  
 
We also offered increased GP appointments in the town with the continuation of weekend 
services with bookable appointments via GP surgeries, as well as an increase in Urgent 
Care and A&E appointments.  
 
We are working towards expanding existing arrangements for Community Matrons 
supported by GP’s to be available in all care homes in Darlington providing assessments, 
diagnosis and treatment for some of the most vulnerable patients ensuring they get prompt 
advice, keeping them healthy and safe at home wherever possible.  
  
Community-based beds are being made available in Darlington for patients who are 
recovering or recuperating but no longer need acute or specialist care, this way patients 
can have regular contact with family and friends and still receive high quality nursing 
care.   
 
GPs, hospital consultants, community nursing teams, social workers and voluntary 
agencies are all working together to achieve a single and well-managed process from 
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hospital admission into an acute bed through to a single assessment of progress and a 
planned and timely discharge into a community nursing bed or return home with support.   
  
Everyone benefits from this planned approach.  Patients get the right care in the right 
place at the right time and they get support from the clinical teams in Darlington who 
already know them.  Delays and distress will be minimised and families should find it 
easier to cope.  Acute beds are available for people who need them and GPs have the 
resources to manage their patients better.  All in all, together we are planning for better 
health, better care and better value. 

2.1.10 Care of the frail and elderly 
 
Our prime focus in our work with the Frail Elderly remains to improve the patient and carer 
experience and improve outcomes for our patients. Since October 2014 we have had 
Community Matrons aligned to a number of care homes in Darlington managing daily 
concerns and developing care plans to ensure residents are supported in the best way 
possible in the place of their choice. Over the period April 2014 – December 2015, 
emergency admissions from care homes have reduced by 46% and A&E attendances 
have reduced by 36%.  
 
We have continued with the monthly practice MDT meetings. A small number also now 
involve a Community Pharmacist on a pilot basis to determine how they can further 
support high risk patients. Our Hospital to Home service – now renamed the Adult 
Transitions of Care team – continue to work in Darlington Memorial Hospital to facilitate 
early supported discharge of patients. This is in conjunction with a GP working in DMH on 
a Saturday and Sunday to identify patients who can be discharged back to their own home 
or to a Community Bed with support. This is serving to reduce length of stay and reduce 
delayed transfers of care.  We are now working with County Durham and Darlington 
Foundation Trust to further streamline the discharge process and ensure discharge 
planning starts on admission to ensure patients can return to their usual place of residence 
as soon as they are medically fit to do so. 
 
To support the pressures on acute care over the winter period we have introduced 9 
community step-down beds where patients are transferred to from an acute bed when they 
are medically fit but may not yet be capable of returning to their own home due to needing 
an increase support package. This has reduced the number of patients being referred to 
Richardson Community Hospital which we know is a long way for relatives to travel when 
visiting.  Since February 2016 we have had a broker service in place managed by 
Darlington Association on Disability (DAD), which supports patients and relatives identify a 
suitable long term care placement when it has been established they are no longer able to 
return to their own home. The broker will identify where beds are available and support 
carers to visit the homes to identify a place of choice for their loved ones long term care, 
again reducing unnecessary delayed transfers of care. 
 
Good progress has been made but there is still much to do.  Our experience over the last 
year has identified we believe Rapid Access Assessment slots are needed during the 
normal week rather than at weekends. We are therefore working with our acute care 
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colleagues to determine how we can accommodate this within existing elderly care clinics. 
We are seeking to make more use of assistive technology in care homes so we can earlier 
identify the onset of infection and provide proactive intervention to avoid an unnecessary 
unplanned admission to hospital.  
 
The multi-disciplinary team made up of staff from NHS Darlington Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG), County Durham and Darlington Foundation Trust (CDDFT) in liaison with 
County Durham and Darlington Community Health Service won the ‘Value and 
improvement in using IT to support integrated healthcare services’ at the Health Service 
Journal national ‘Value in Healthcare Awards’ held at the Grosvenor Hotel in London. 

They recognised that there was space for improvement in the approach to the treatment of 
elderly people with long term conditions, and there was a greater need to share 
information between organisations. However, concerns and fears over the way information 
is shared presented a barrier to joined up care; no one had addressed the problem of 
sharing information. 

The team including Lisa Wilson, Head of Information Governance  at CDDFT and Eileen 
Carbro, a Commissioning Manager with the North of England Commissioning Support 
Unit, developed information sharing agreements, enabling all parties to agree what 
information would be shared, how it would be shared, and how it would be transferred, 
stored and disposed of.   

Eileen said, ‘We wanted to find an innovative approach to improve the way we care for the 
frail and elderly in Darlington. Although sharing information seems quite simple, it was a 
huge step forward in the way we work together. This new joined up approach means better 
care for the elderly at home and the prevention of as many hospital admissions which can 
be very stressful.’ 

The judges said: ‘Our winner has solved a problem that others have struggled with. It has 
a good understanding of risk and strong partnership working. This is a ground breaking 
approach to a wicked problem.’ 

The multidisciplinary team, including staff from Darlington Borough Council and the 
voluntary sector, is now sharing live data and exceeding its target of a 3.5 per cent 
reduction in hospital admissions. Also, the number of frail elderly admissions from local 
care homes targeted by the team has reduced by 30 per cent. 

Intermediate care beds 
The CCG is currently undertaking a review of intermediate care beds.Management 
of the Frail Elderly population is a key part of the CCG Five Year Strategy which includes 
development of new models of care centred around the patient and ensuring they secure 
the right services in the right place at the right time. It also contributes to the CCG 
Operational Plan 2014/16 priorities to provide high quality care closer to the patient’s 
home. It was found there were a number of Darlington people accessing intermediate care 
beds who were more in need of step down/convalescence rather than intermediate care.  
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To free up capacity within the intermediate care system it was felt having a range of beds 
including community and intermediate care would move people through the system much 
quicker.  Thus ensuring they went on the correct pathway in terms of their discharge 
journey and getting them the best outcomes.  
 
As a result, nine community beds were commissioned with Ventress Hall Care Home in 
Darlington.  It was agreed by Joint Management Team on 6th October 2015 to commission 
the community beds for 6 months to cover the winter period from 1st November 2015 to 
30th April, 2016. This is now under review. 
 
Dementia 
We have worked with Durham County Council, North Durham CCG, Durham Dales, 
Easington and Sedgefield CCG and Tees, Esk and Wear Valley NHS Trust to plan how 
we can provide the best care possible now and in the future for people with dementia. 
Following a public consultation to gather people’s views, we agreed a strategy to improve 
services throughout the community. Our priorities over the next three years have been 
agreed by the CCGs and the Health and Wellbeing boards for Durham County Council 
and Darlington Borough Council. 
 
The Dementia Strategy for County Durham and Darlington document is available on the 
CCG website. A Dementia Strategy Implementation Group for County Durham and 
Darlington has been established in order to maintain progress across a range of 
identified priority areas. A Health Needs Assessment is taking place to gather more 
information on the problems currently being faced by people with dementia across our 
region. The goal is to identify areas for investigation, pinpointing any inequalities in 
service provision so that priorities can be reviewed, established, agreed, and 
developments implemented to improve the situation for those patients. 
 
End of life care 
We aim to ensure that GPs regularly develop and review plans with patients who may be 
nearing their end of life and we are also improving services and options for people who 
are at the end of their life, providing the best possible support, including the choice of 
dying at home.   
 
The positive impact of these investments will mean more patients will be able to have 
increased specialist support in their preferred place of care until they die. The strategic 
palliative and end of life care group for County Durham and Darlington continues to meet, 
progressing the knowledge and confidence of staff, ensuring that our member practices are 
clear about those patients that would benefit from palliative care support and ensuring that 
our care home staff are also equipped and supported to give good care. 
Working in partnership with St Teresa’s hospice we have put in place a community 
lymphedema service which provides clinics and self- management programmes to 
support people in managing their condition. 
 
Diabetes 
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Commissioners and clinicians from Darlington CCG, North Durham CCG and Durham 
Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG have agreed on a new model of care for diabetes in 
County Durham and Darlington.  This has been developed with insights gathered from 
patients, their families and carers, gathered over the past two years and via a number of 
events (such as two Planning Alternative Tomorrows with Hope – PATH- events in 
December 2014 and again in 2015).   
 
In response to those insights, the new model will focus on increasing patients’ awareness 
and understanding of diabetes and supporting patients to self-manage their condition; 
ensuring a seamless service between primary care and secondary care and reducing 
avoidable complications such as amputations, renal failure and retinopathy. 
 
Work is now underway to commence the new ways of working, and it is expected to begin 
in June 2016 with full implementation next year.  Over the next 12 months GP practices 
will be receiving training and support from hospital diabetes specialists (Consultants and 
Specialist Nurses) to enable more care to take place in community settings.  This will 
mean fewer patients having to attend appointments at hospital and will improve the levels 
of care available in patients’ local GP practices.  
 
 Long Term Condition Collaborative  
Darlington CCG identified through predictive and risk stratification a cohort of individuals 
who are using a higher amount of services, mainly A&E attendances, who appear to be 
disconnected from routine services.  A small group has been established to look into this 
cohort in more depth.  Progress to date has been difficult due to information governance 
issues, but a data sharing protocol is close to completion.  A study of patterns of service 
use can then take place.  To care this group of people differently and to identify potential 
support, potentially through voluntary sector, is being taken through the not in hosptial 
workstream and is part of the next stage development of the practice based 
Multidisciplinary Teams. 
 
Respiratory Disease Programme 2015 - 2017 a catalyst for change 
Jointly funded by the Academic Health Science Network (AHSN) and the CCG this project 
will deliver a programme across primary care in Darlington over a 2-year period that builds 
on the work carried out over the last few years in the care of patients with respiratory 
disease in Darlington with a view to the future. 
 
The Darlington Respiratory Team (DART) has been able to come together to develop 
pathways of care, which have successfully signposted people with chronic respiratory 
disease, ensuring greater consistency across practices . 
 
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is an exemplar for Long Term Conditions 
(LTC) and challenges the approach taken to prevention, diagnosis and management in the 
acute and chronic setting. Too many people with COPD are admitted to hospital and we 
are committed to improving their care through earlier diagnosis and treatment whilst also 
focusing on prevention. We will be making improvements in the care patients receive in 
primary care including early case findings and diagnosis, improved inhaler technique, 
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access to pulmonary rehabilitation and better use of medications. 50% of COPD patients 
have 3 or more co-morbidities. Asthma on the other hand is the commonest LTC in 
children. This programme would have a number of streams interlinked with the agenda for 
co-morbidities, self-management and prevention (smoking cessation).  

Darlington CCG leads North of England Regional Back Pain Programme 

Darlington CCG is the lead commissioner for the North of England Regional Back Pain 
Programme. This is a regional initiative with clinical commissioners, providers and health 
professionals from the north east of England that has been selected by the Health 
Foundation, an independent health care charity, to be part of its new national £3.5 million 
improvement programme, Scaling Up Improvement. 

 

Regional Back Pain Programme Website 

The programme aims to improve the management of patients who have lower back pain or 
radicular pain, implementing an evidence-based, comprehensive care pathway that 
integrates care from the GP surgery through to the specialists in hospital. During 2015/16 
patients from NHS South Tees CCG and NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG 
have piloted the approach which provides people the information and ability to manage 
their own symptoms and put in place lifestyle changes to prevent frequency of recurrence. 
Those people who may go on to have more disabling problems are provided with the 
correct interventions at the right time which can significantly prevent their problems from 
becoming chronic and the consequent effect it has upon their overall wellbeing. 

Darlington CCG will commence the programme in the spring of 2016. 

http://www.noebackpainprogramme.nhs.uk/
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2.1.11 Mental Health 
 
Crisis Care Concordat 
Darlington CCG have signed up to the Crisis Care Concordat which is a multi-partner 
agreement to work together to improve care for patients in crisis.  The Concordat is across 
County Durham and Darlington and looks at a range of issues including improvements in 
information sharing, improvements in the crisis pathway, improving pathways for those 
who use emergency services frequently.   
 
No Health without Mental health 
Darlington CCG works closely with Darlington Council and partner organisations in the 
voluntary sector to deliver the national strategy No Health without Mental Health.  This 
requires close working with Public Health and social care colleagues to deliver 
improvements such as improving training in non-medical interventions and improving 
resilience in the community.  In 2016/17, the CCG will invest in a recovery college model 
to continue to support mental health recovery in Darlington. 
 
Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) 
This is a talking therapy service aimed at those with lower level and moderate depression 
and anxiety as an alternative to medication.  There are specific national requirements 
within the service such as how long people should wait for their first appointment and 
checks to ensure that the majority of people consider themselves to be recovered. 
 
Darlington CCG commissions two services under the Improving Access to Psychological 
Therapies ‘umbrella’. The first is a standard IAPT service delivered by Talking Changes, 
the second a counselling service delivered by Insight. Essentially this gives patients a 
choice of therapy in addition /or as a replacement to medication.  
 
Nationally the service has four key targets:- 

• 15% of the prevalent population with a condition enter therapy.  
• 50% of those entering therapy achieve a defined recovery.  
• 75% of those finishing therapy have a referral to treatment time of 6 weeks 
• 95% of those finishing therapy have a referral to treatment time of 9 weeks 

 
In terms of achievement Darlington CCG has struggled to meet the required prevalence 
and outcome targets over 2015/16. The primary reason for this under performance has 
been due to counselling services initially being commissioned outside of the scope of IAPT 
requirements. The services therefore did not contribute towards the performance 
standards shown above. The CCG has been working with the counselling service during 
the year to develop information protocols. It is expected that during 2016/17 counselling 
data will support IAPT performance and the CCG will over achieve against the standards, 
reflecting the level of therapeutic provision which is available across Darlington CCG’s 
geographical boundaries. 
 



NHS Darlington Clinical Commissioning Group annual report and accounts 2015/16 

Page 21 of 104 
 

Parity of esteem 
Parity of esteem means valuing mental health equally with physical health. 
The CCG has maintained its commitment from 2014/15 in relation to funding for Mental 
Health.   The commitment was to ensure that mental health budgets benefited from the 
same levels of growth as other budgets. We also ring-fenced our mental health budgets to 
ensure continued investment in mental health services. 
 
Liaison Psychiatry 
This area is a high priority nationally. Many people who attend A&E have mental health 
problems which need to be addressed quickly alongside any physical health issues.  The 
government has required CCGs to commission a liaison psychiatry team to work in 50% of 
A&E departments nationwide 24 hours a day by 2020.  This service already exists in 
Darlington Memorial Hospital and is available to patients at peak times.  However, the 
CCG will be working with the Foundation Trust to extend the service to be 24 hour and 
also to work in the wards alongside discharge teams. 
 
Urgent and Emergency Care Vanguard 
The CCG is also actively involved in the urgent and emergency care vanguard which 
includes a work stream on mental health.  Work for 2015/16 has centred around working 
with partner organisations to support and deliver specialist training for professionals who 
may find themselves at the forefront of services with patients in crisis.  Ongoing work for 
2016/17 is yet to be confirmed but is likely to include investigating the possibility of a crisis 
assessment suite, street triage and improvements in transporting patients who require 
assessment under the Mental Health Act.   
 
Darlington Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Plan 
In September 2015 the CCG approved a final transformation plan and this has been 
‘Assured’ by NHS England. This released the funding to be invested directly into Children 
and Young People Mental Health Services in Darlington. The Review Panel commented 
on the strength of the submission, the plan was identified as an ‘exemplar’ plan. 
 
The plan will significantly reshape the way services for children and young people with 
mental health needs are commissioned and delivered across all agencies over the next 5 
years in line with proposals put forward in Future in Mind.  
 

2.1.12 Cancer Services  
 
We continue to achieve high standards with regard to meeting cancer waiting time targets. 
These are performance figures we are proud of and we are continuing to improve the 
outcomes of those affected by cancer. To do this we are undertaking a full review of 
cancer services and have funded two additional posts to deliver. The aim of the review is 
to improve the outcomes for those affected by cancer and ensure that the CCG’s future 
commissioning plans are sustainable, of high quality, and consistent with changing 
national requirements to ensure we are able to deliver: 
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• improved outcomes for people affected by cancer in Darlington through the 
commissioning of effective and efficient cancer services provision in the area 

• increased quality of services for people affected by cancer and improving patient 
experiences of cancer services throughout their journey; and 

• improved outcomes in Darlington relating to <75 years mortality rates 
 

2.1.13 Commissioning safe and effective care  

Better Care Fund 
 We recognise and acknowledge the challenges we face and have developed key aims 
and objectives to underpin the transformation of the system with Darlington Borough 
Council and other partner organisations. Our plans and priorities are fully aligned to 
provide an integrated proposal securing value for money. 

Darlington Multidisciplinary Team (MDTs) 
The new multi-disciplinary team process is now well established in the GP surgeries and 
is showing first indications of its impact with reduced activity in terms of unplanned/non-
elective admissions, delayed transfers of care and care home admissions. The MDTs 
are about both improved patient care and experiences and about moving resources 
away from unplanned activity and towards primary care, prevention and community 
delivery. They are a key feature of the Better Care Fund programme and their success is 
entirely attributable to the commitment of different partners working together.  
 
The MDT process includes monthly meetings in each practice, twice weekly meetings of 
agencies to identify any problems and blockages in the system and to give a prompt 
response and a monthly clinical reference group to oversee the process and to identify 
key learning.  
 
Nursing and Residential Care Home Pilot  
This service has operated in Darlington as a pilot since September 2013. The pilot has 
identified areas of good practice, areas for improvement and potential future models of 
delivery. A Task and Finish Group has also been established which includes 
representation from primary care, community matrons, out of hours service, community 
pharmacy, the local authority and care homes. The pilot was extended until November 
2015. 
 
Medicines Optimisation 
The decision to prescribe is the most common intervention in the NHS.  Darlington CCG 
work collaboratively with other health professionals and social care providers to deliver 
evidence-based cost effective use of medication to maximise patient outcomes from 
medication prescribed to them. This is facilitated through the North Region Treatment 
Advisory Group, County Durham and Darlington Area Prescribing Committee, and its 
shared formulary process with secondary care along with individual funding request 
processes for medication, and County Durham and Darlington Drug and Therapeutics 
Clinical Advisory Group.  Within the last year, these processes have produced some key 
clinical guidance for our prescribers in asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease 
which have high prevalence within our CCG. 
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All CCG member practices receive practice-based prescribing support which includes 
audit work to support implementation of NICE guidance and medication related issues in 
general practice, support to encourage prescribing decisions in line with the County 
Durham and Darlington formulary and monitoring and analysis of prescribing 
patterns.  Locally developed clinical system protocols support decision making at the point 
of prescribing, based on clinical effectiveness and cost-effectiveness, and regular 
newsletters and memos, the formulary and medicines optimisation websites are also 
available to support clinicians. 

Clinical engagement of healthcare professionals is key to the delivery of the medicines 
optimisation agenda and longer term strategy.  All Darlington practices are members of the 
CCG Prescribing Subcommittee which leads on local implementation of medicines related 
issues and provides guidance to local prescribers. 

This past year has been challenging in managing prescribing costs within primary 
care.  Pressures have been from the growth in prescribing of newer oral anticoagulants, in 
line with NICE guidance, and continued growth in diabetes and pain management 
prescribing costs.  The CCG has a QIPP implementation plan for medicines optimisation 
as well as horizon scanning for future budgetary pressures.   

All practices receive monthly prescribing reports, detailing budget and performance 
against Darlington Prescribing Quality Scheme indicators; these include antibiotic 
prescribing rates, linking in with the Department of Health's UK Antimicrobial Resistance 
Strategy. 

Assurance around the safe management of controlled drugs is provided to the CCG via 
quarterly prescribing reports presented to the Quality, Productivity and Innovation 
Committee and Prescribing Subcommittee, ensuring robust procedures are in place within 
primary care.  Darlington CCG is also a member of the NHS England Local Intelligence 
Network for Controlled Drugs. 

 
Clinical quality 
Quality is at the centre of Darlington CCG’s vision and values, and the CCG is 
dedicated to ensuring that the services we commission on behalf of the people of 
Darlington are of the highest quality in being safe and effective and providing 
patients with a good experience of care. The quality of care for patients is measured 
against the five domains of the NHS Outcomes Framework. 
 
Assurance on the quality of care delivered by the commissioned services is 
summarised in the monthly quality report. The report contains a wide range of data 
sources that monitor the effectiveness of services; this includes safety thermometer, 
incident data, complaints, Healthcare Acquired Infection  and quality dashboards. These 
reports are received by the CCG’s Quality, Performance and Innovation Committee and 
Governing Body. 
 
As part of the contractual process with providers, clinical quality review group 
(CQRG) meetings are held with each acute and mental health provider 



NHS Darlington Clinical Commissioning Group annual report and accounts 2015/16 

Page 24 of 104 
 

organisation; these meetings are chaired by CCG executive leads. CQRGs are also 
held with the ambulance service and independent providers, and the focus of these 
meetings is on quality assurance and provides the CCG with the opportunity to 
review and monitor areas for improvement, good practice and allows for challenge if 
areas of concern arise. The CQRGs have been pivotal to the positive relationships 
that have been developed with providers since the CCG was formed in April 2013 
and ensures that quality is reported on in an honest and transparent way. 
Building on the success of the CCG’s 2014/15 commissioner assurance visit 
programme, Darlington CCG has continued to work collaboratively with neighbouring 
CCGs in County Durham on a programme of commissioner assurance visits across 
a wide range of our care providers.  
 
This has enabled CCG representatives to experience first-hand the quality of service 
delivery and discuss experiences with both patients and staff. 
 
High level risks and issues are reported to the County Durham, Darlington and Tees 
quality surveillance group (QSG) which brings together ,local CCG commissioners, local 
authorities, NHS England and regulators, Care Quality Commission (CQC) and 
Monitor together into one forum for sharing local intelligence. Further examples 
where the CCG have been engaged in driving quality improvements and supporting 
the national quality agenda are as follows: 
 
 
Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN)  
CQUIN was introduced over six years ago to encourage providers to improve the 
quality of care provided to patients. The framework enables commissioners to 
reward excellence by linking a proportion of a providers income to the achievement 
of national and local quality improvement goals. The CCG CQUIN schemes for 
2015/16 were centred on safety, effectiveness, user experience, innovation and are 
outcome based and have included improvements in management of Sepsis and End of life 
care . The schemes are compliant with the CCGs commissioning priorities. 
 
Serious Incidents (SIs) 
The CCG is responsible for ensuring that when a serious incident occurs that there 
are measures in place to safeguard patients and to investigate the incident to 
prevent reoccurrence. The monitoring of serious incidents takes place at the 
combined County Durham and Darlington CCG serious incident panel, which is led 
by the CCG Executive Nurses and where investigating reports and action plans are 
reviewed and signed off 
 
Infection control  
The CCG Infection Prevention and Control Team (IPCT) works through effective 
leadership, education and training and surveillance of alert organisms. The IPCT has 
carried out surveillance of healthcare associated infections (HCAI) and root cause 
analysis on all pre-72 hour clostridium difficile and pre-48 hour MRSA bacteraemia 
cases. Lessons learnt from all HCAI are discussed at significant event meetings 
within general practice and at County Durham and Darlington Health and Social 
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Care HCAI group.  
 
Training has been offered and delivered to a range of staff including medical, nursing, 
health and social care and administration. Unannounced visits to care homes have 
identified areas of infection control standards and practices which require improvement in 
some homes. Support has been provided to make improvements and information shared 
with other healthcare professionals. The team has been available to work with architects, 
staff within general practice and relevant associates to ensure that any new builds and 
refurbishments meet the required infection control standards and taken part in 
commissioner assurance visits to provider organisations to observe standards and make 
recommendations for improvement where necessary.  
 
Many challenges remain across health and social care and it is important that the CCG 
remains focused in ensuring that Infection Prevention and Control is seen as part of 
patient safety wherever care is delivered. 
 
Safeguarding  
Integrated multi-agency working is essential to support the CCG‟s robust approach 
to safeguarding and is a key priority to keep adults and children safe. The CCG is a 
member of the local safeguarding Boards and its associated sub-groups in 
Darlington. This provides assurance that the CCG is up-to-date with changes 
required in relation to the Care Act 2014 as well as being fully involved in 
developments around changes to multi-agency procedure, training and 
communication, and the ongoing development of a performance framework. The 
Boards ensure that lessons learned from serious case reviews, internal management 
reviews and domestic homicide reviews are embedded in practice. 
 
The Chief Nurse also represents the CCG at Darlington Children’s improvement board, set 
up following the local authority OFSTED inspection and report in 2015 . 
Throughout the year, the Safeguarding Teams have been actively involved in 
information sharing meetings which are held with adult social care, infection control 
and the Care Quality Commission (CQC). Meetings are bi-monthly and allow a route 
for intelligence gathering and joining up of concerns which can then be acted upon. 
The Adult Safeguarding Senior Manager attends a Quality Surveillance Group 
Health Safeguarding Forum, led by the Local Area Team, with meetings being held 
quarterly. As well as being an arena for sharing good practice, the meetings also 
have addressed key areas of concern regarding commissioned services. 
Throughout the year, the CCG has continued to deliver a training programme for 
primary care and lead GPs have now attended Level 3 training as well as 
specific sessions on the Mental Capacity Act. The safeguarding teams have also 
been supporting general practice with embedding various policies and pathways in 
practice, including domestic abuse/violence. 
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2.2 Performance summary 
 
NHS England has a statutory duty to make an annual assessment of each CCG’s 
performance. It meets this duty through its CCG Assurance Framework. A new CCG 
Assurance Framework was published in March 2015 to take account of the considerable 
changes which have taken place in the NHS environment since CCGs were initially 
authorised in 2013. 
 
The new framework acknowledges that CCGs have different starting positions, with 
different populations and challenges, requiring different leadership responses. Some are 
operating in an extremely difficult environment, within challenged health economies or with 
legacy financial issues. Assurance covers the overall delivery of a CCG and will take place 
continuously. 
 
Although performance against certain targets within the NHS Constitution and the CCG 
outcome indicators for 2015/16 has been below expectations, no areas have been 
identified within the assurance process where the actions implemented by the CCG were 
deemed to be insufficient or where additional support through NHS England was 
necessary. 
 
In Darlington we have worked with our partners and stakeholders to ensure that the health 
and wellbeing of patients remained a priority and to improve performance against national 
and local targets and the requirements of the NHS Constitution. 
 
Performance against NHS Constitution targets 
 
Referral to treatment 
Patients have the legal right to start their NHS consultant-led treatment within a maximum 
of 18 weeks from referral. On 1 October 2015, the National Health Service Commissioning 
Board and Clinical Commissioning Groups (Responsibilities and Standing Rules) 
(Amendment) (No.2) Regulations 2015 came into effect, removing the provision for a 
patient pause.  
 
The two RTT measures relating to completed (admitted and non-admitted) pathways were 
abolished and the financial penalties for both have been suspended, meaning that the 
percentage of incomplete pathways seen within 18 weeks (92%) has become the sole 
measure of performance.  The financial penalty for incomplete pathways breaching 18 
weeks above the threshold of 8% has now doubled. 
 
Year to date CCG performance to January 2016 for referral to treatment incomplete 
pathways treated within 18 weeks is above target, reporting 94.5% against the 92% 
threshold. 
 
No patients should be waiting more than 52 weeks for treatment.  Darlington CCG has 
reported two breaches up to January 2016. This is a worsening position compared to the 
previous year, where zero cases were recorded in 2014/15, and actions have been put in 
place by the provider to minimise the potential of further breaches. 
 
Diagnostic test waiting times 
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No more that 1% of patients should wait over 6 weeks for a diagnostic test. Darlington 
CCG has achieved this target for 6 consecutive months in a row from July 2015 through to 
December 2015.  For diagnostic tests the latest available 2015/16 performance is 0.20% 
of Darlington patients waiting over six weeks. The target was also met by the main 
provider, County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust (CDDFT) reporting 0.00% 
in December 2015.  
 
This is a vast improvement in comparison to 2014/15 data, where Darlington CCG failed 
this indicator for 11 months out of 12, only achieving the target in April 2014 and failing the 
yearend position.  This shows that the action plans put in place by the CCG and the Trust 
have impacted, and both are likely to achieve the year end position for this standard based 
on good performance in Q3. 
 
 
Cancer waiting times 
Darlington CCG has met the year-to-date targets for eight out of the nine categories for 
cancer waiting times. Performance for the 62 day wait urgent GP referral category 
remains the main concern, currently reporting the year-to-date position as 80.2% against 
the 85% target. This standard has remained non-compliant for 6 months out of 9, only 
achieving the target in May 2015, July 2015 and August 2015.  Darlington CCG failed Q3, 
reporting 76.7%, 3% lower than the final figure reported for Q3 in 2014/15.  Breaches have 
occurred in Upper GI, Lower GI, Urology and Haematology.  Breach reasons were 
recorded as due to capacity, medical reasons and complex diagnostics.  
 
Patient level breach analysis is being undertaken to try and identify any trends within the 
breach reasons which can then inform further actions with the Trusts. 
Although there are some capacity issues, particularly in Urology, for robotic surgery, there 
are an increasing number of complex pathways which seriously impact Trusts ability to 
achieve the target. Performance continues to be monitored through contract meetings and 
the CCG performance framework. 
 
Ambulance response times 
All ambulance trusts are expected to respond to 75% of immediately life threatening calls 
within eight minutes. The performance of the North East Ambulance Service for the whole 
of 2015/16 against this indicator is reported as 68.6%.  
 
Where onward transport is required, 95% of life-threatening calls will receive an 
ambulance vehicle capable of transporting the patient safely within 19 minutes of the 
request for transport being made. The performance of the North East Ambulance Service 
for the whole of 2015/16 against this indicator is reported as 92.2%. 
 
There are a number of factors affecting NEAS’ ability to hit the response standards.  This 
includes 

• a national shortage of trained paramedics impacting on recruitment plans; 
• a marked increase in volume of Red 1 incidents since October 2014 resulting from 

a change to national NHS pathways system;  
• adverse system pressure with most Trusts routinely failing the A&E 4 hour wait 

target, 
• handover times being extended and diverts being put in place.   
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A number of qualitative improvements have directly impacted on performance such as the 
necessity to improve front-line leadership and supervision with a phased introduction of 
ECCMs from April 2014. 
 
In order to improve ambulance response times, a program of transformational change has 
been developed to support clinical, operational and financial sustainability and to address 
workforce pressures in a number of ways given the national shortfall of Paramedics.  
 
NEAS review performance against action plans at a weekly Sustainability Review Meeting 
and recovery is reported to the Trust Board. 
 

Healthcare associated infection 
Reducing healthcare associated infection remained a key challenge for the CCG and the 
local NHS throughout the year. 
 

• MRSA (methicillin resistant Staphylococcus Aureus) 
There is a zero tolerance of MRSA which means that all commissioner and provider 
targets are zero. The CCG have reported 2 cases in year, 1 in August 2015 and 1 in 
December 2015. 

  
• Clostridium difficile 
The 2015/16 position for the CCG shows 22 cases in total against a trajectory of 17, 
the CCG was therefore over its annual target. 

 
 
Accident and emergency (A&E) performance 
Provider organisations have a number of targets in relation to emergency care. One key 
target is that 95% of patients should wait no longer than four hours for treatment in an 
emergency department. Although this is not one of the CCG‟s constitutional indicators, it is 
unfortunately an area where performance against the target has not been achieved due to 
it not being met by the CCGs main provider, County Durham and Darlington NHS 
Foundation Trust. 
 
The Trust achieved the target in Q2, but was non-compliant in Q1 and Q3.  Performance 
has further declined in January 2016, a trend experienced both at a regional and national 
level as a result of increased pressures and rise in demand for emergency care. A number 
of proactive steps have been put in place to help prepare for surges, and ensure robust 
arrangements for reviewing and challenging performance. 
 
The CCG is not complacent about the performance of our providers as this seriously 
impacts on the experience of our local population. Whilst we have improved performance 
the challenges have been so great that we have not seen the improvements we wish to 
see. This will be an area of continued focus for 2016/17 with plans in place to improve 
delivery during the year. 
  

2.2.1.1 Analysis 
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CCG performance is reviewed by NHS England to ensure that CCGs are delivering quality 
outcomes for patients, both locally and as part of the national standards. The following 
pages set out areas performing particularly well and some that still require improvement. 
 
Indicators described include: 
 

• A&E four hour waits 
• Ambulance Response times 
• Ambulance handovers 
• Cancer waiting times 
• Reduction in avoidable emergency admissions 
• Healthcare associated infections (MRSA and Clostridium difficile) 
• Referral to treatment times 
• Friends and Family Test 
•  

 
The indicators are set out in the following layout: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Comparison of this 
year and last year – 
standard line in red 

Statistics 
shown in 

central table 

Quarterly trend 
analysis. 

Green is at or above 
standard and red is 
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Urgent Care Performance 
 
Four Hour Waits in Accident & Emergency: 
 

 
 
In 2015/16, 6.8% of people who required A&E services waited over 4 hours to be seen. 
This is a decreased of 1.2 percentage point from 2014/15. 
Darlington CCG was only a 0.6 percentage point below the standard in 2014/15. 2015/16 
results have brought the CCG down to 1.8 percentage points below standard. 
 
Ambulance Response Times: 
 
We commission ambulance services from North East Ambulance Service NHS FT (NEAS) 
and specify that they comply with operational standards. 
 

 
 
During 2015/16, 27.8% of patients who required an ambulance urgently because their 
condition was considered immediately life threatening waited over 8 minutes for an 
ambulance to arrive. This is a 5.4 percentage points increase from 2014/15. 
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The CCG was 1.6 percentage points above standard in 2014/15 and is now 2.8 
percentage points below standard. 

 

 
 
During 2014/15, 26% of patients who required an ambulance urgently because their 
condition was considered immediately life threatening waited over 8 minutes for an 
ambulance to arrive. This was 4.4 percentage points more than 2014/15. 
The CCG was 3.4 percentage points above standard in 2014/15 and is 1.0 percentage 
points below in 2015/16. 

 

 
 
In 2014/15, 12.4% of people who required a fully equipped ambulance to attend urgently 
but did not have a condition considered immediately life threatening waited over 19 
minutes for the ambulance to arrive. This is a 6.3 percentage point increase from last year. 
Darlington CCG was 1.1 percentage points below the standard in 2014/15 and has 
decreased further to 6.3 percentage points below in 2015/16. 
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Cancer Waiting Times 
 

 
 
During 2015/16, 6.4% of patients waited more than two weeks for an outpatient 
appointment when referred by their GP urgently with suspected cancer. This was an 
increase from 2014/15 when 4.1% of patients waited more than two weeks for an 
outpatient appointment. 
Darlington CCG has been above standard for three consecutive years, albeit a decrease in 
2014/15. 
 

 
 
In 2015/16, 5.4% of patients who were referred urgently for an outpatient appointment with 
breast symptoms waited more than two weeks for an outpatient appointment. This is an 
increase of 0.5 percentage points from last year.  
The CCG has been above standards for three consecutive years. 
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During the year 2015/16, 1.3% of patients who were diagnosed with cancer waited over 31 
days for treatment to commence, an increase of a 0.4 percentage point from 2014/15. 
Darlington CCG has been over standard for three consecutive years. 
 

 
 
In 2014/15 and 2015/16, 2.7% of people diagnosed with cancer waited over 31 days for 
surgery to commence.  
The CCG has been over standard for three consecutive years. Three of the four quarters 
in 2015/16 indicate that all (100%) patients have received surgery with 31 days. 
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100% of patients diagnosed with cancer received drug treatment within 21 days. 
 

 
 
Another 100% achievement with this indicator regarding people who were diagnosed with 
cancer waiting less than 31 days for radiotherapy to commence.  
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During the course of 2015/16, 24.0% of patients who were diagnosed with cancer waited 
over 62 days for treatment to commence, following an urgent referral from their GP. This is 
8.3 percentage points increase from 2014/15. 
The CCG was just below standard in 2013/14 and 2014/15. Results for 2015/16 show that 
the CCG is 9.0 percentage points under standard. 
 

 
 
During the year 2014/15, 7.1% of patients who were diagnosed with cancer waited over 62 
days for treatment to commence following referral from an NHS screening service. This is 
5.5 percentage points increase from last year. 
In 2013/14 and 2014/15 Darlington CCG was over 8.0 percentage points above standard. 
2015/16 results have seen a decline in performance to 2.9 percentage points above 
standard.  
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In 2015/16, all patients (4) who were diagnosed with cancer waited over 62 days for 
treatment to commence, following a consultant’s decision to upgrade the priority of the 
patient. In 2014/15 one patient received treatment after 62 days. 
 
 
Reduction in Avoidable Emergency Admissions 
 

 
 
Between 2013/14 to 2014/15 there was an increase of 177 per 100,000 population 
Emergency Admissions for Darlington CCG. 2015/16 results are the same as the previous 
year. 
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Healthcare Associated Infections 
 
All CCGs have objectives for HCAIs set by NHS England. There is a zero tolerance of 
MSRA (Methicillin resistant Staphylococcus Aureus), which means that all commissioners 
and provider targets are zero.  
 

 

 
 
There has been a slight increase in cases of C.difficile among Darlington CCG patients. 
The CCG was above standard in 2013/14 with only 15 cases, yet has been below 
standard for the last two years. 
 
 
Mixed-Sex Accommodation 
 
Under the NHS constitution, providers of NHS funded care are expected to eliminate 
mixed sex accommodation.  
There were no breaches of the mixed sex accommodation standard in Darlington CCG in 
the last three years. 
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Referral to Treatment 
 

 
 
During the year 2015/16, 7.8% of patients admitted for elective treatment started treatment 
after more than 18 weeks. This is an increase on 2.9 percentage points from last year. 
The CCG has been above standard for three consecutive years, albeit a decline in 
performance during 2015/16. 
 

 
 
In 2015/16, 2.2% of patients who received treatment and did not require admission to 
hospital waited more than 18 weeks for treatment. This a 0.5 percentage point increase 
from 2014/15. 
The CCG has been above standard for the last three years. Results for 2015/16 show a 
decrease in performance of 0.5 percentage points since 2014/15.. 
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At the end of 2015/16, 5.3% of patients who continued to wait for treatment waited in 
excess of 18 weeks for their treatment, 0.3 percentage points less than last year.  
The CCG remains above standard for three years now. 
 

 
 
During the last two years, 7 patients admitted for non-urgent consultant-led treatment 
received their treatment after more than 52 weeks.  
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Friends and Family Test 
 
The friends and family test is intended to be a simple metric against which to measure 
patient experience.  
 
FFT Inpatients Response: 
 

 
 
Response rates for Inpatients were well above national target during 2013/14 and 
2014/15. Response Rates for 2015/16 have declined to just below national target. 
 
FFT Inpatients %age Recommended: 
 

 
 
The satisfaction score was below the national target for two consecutive years. 2015/16 
results have reversed this, which now show the CCG above the national target. 
 
 
FFT A&E Response: 
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After a disappointing start to the period, response rates for A&E patients improved over 
2014/15 with a decrease in response rates in 2015/16. 
 
FFT A&E %age Recommended: 
 

 
 
The satisfaction score was below the national target at the start of the period for County 
Durham and Darlington NHS FT. 2015/16 results brings the CCG at national target. 

 
 

2.2.2 Engaging with our local communities 
 
Listening to, and engaging with local people is one of the CCG’s key priorities. We have  
pledged to carry out meaningful engagement by signing up to a ‘Patients Charter’. The 
Charter places meaningful engagement with patients, carers and the public at the centre of 
its work, to inform, develop and prioritise its work in commissioning health services on 
behalf of the local population. 
 
The five-point Charter was developed with the help of the CCG’s Community Council and 
focuses on the following themes: 
 

• Meaningful voices – patient and public involvement and engagement (PPIE) will 
be fully embedded in the design and delivery of our services; 

• Leadership – there is executive level responsibility for PPIE; 
• Proactive engagement – PPIE will be innovative and meet organisational 

objectives; 
• Collaboration – building on existing links with local interest groups and 

organisations 
• Celebration – recognising the contribution and influence of patients, carers and the 

public. 
 
Working closely with Healthwatch Darlington, the independent consumer champion for 
health and social care in Darlington, we have made good progress in engaging with local 
patients, their families and carers but we recognise we can improve upon this.  

2.2.2.1 Community Council 
To develop and refresh our Community Council and to continue to ensure it is 
representative of local people, we launched a recruitment drive for new members. This 
resulted in additional members being recruited. We continue to promote the council via the 
website so that people can express an interest in applying throughout the year. Members 

0.0%

20.0%

40.0%

60.0%

80.0%

100.0%

Standard
COUNTY DURHAM AND DARLINGTON NHS FOUNDATION TRUST



NHS Darlington Clinical Commissioning Group annual report and accounts 2015/16 

Page 42 of 104 
 

of the council also carry out the role of community champions working with the CCG as a 
key mechanism for active engagement and involvement in CCG commissioning activity 
and decisions. The meeting agendas are shaped by CCG business items where input from 
the community council is a key mechanism for communications and engagement. 
 
Website 
Our website www.darlingtonccg.nhs.uk helps us to engage with our local population 
and is regularly updated with news and important corporate information. 
 
Social media 
We are keen to enter into two-way dialogue with local people and our Twitter account 
@darloccg not only allows us to share information about our work, but allows us to directly 
engage with our growing band of over 1,863 followers.  
 
Media relations 
We work closely with local, regional and sometimes national media to get our message 
across. We are keen to publicise our successes and good news stories, but we also work 
with the media to explain why we make decisions and provide an honest and transparent 
response when we are scrutinised or challenged about any aspect of our commissioning 
role. 
 
Governing Body 
The public are welcome to attend and observe our Governing Body meetings.  Following 
the meetings, there is an opportunity for members of the public to ask questions. Meeting 
dates and papers are available to view on the CCG website or paper copies are available 
on request by contacting the CCG Headquarters at Dr Piper House. 
 
Joint Commissioning Committee 
The Joint Commissioning Committee meetings are open to the public with all dates 
promoted on the CCG website. 
 
Regional back pain programme/MSK Quality Forum 
This year we have engaged with patients, members of the public and key stakeholders in 
the implementation of the Regional Back Pain and Radicular Pain Pathway. This informed 
the pilot study and roll out of the wider programme. Darlington CCG is part of Wave 1 
which was implemented on March 1st 2016 
 
Diabetes – new model of care  
A new model of diabetes care will be launched in April 2016.  The model will focus more 
on care in community settings and in GP practices with fewer people needing to be treated 
in hospital.  The new model, (which is an integrated community based delivery model) will 
mean that every patient will have an individualised care plan. 
 
A new model of care was developed, with input from patients and health professionals 
delivering diabetes care. 
Community Innovations Fund 
Engaging with the third sector, the CCG asked local voluntary and community projects to 
apply for a portion of a £50,000 fund made available by the CCG to projects across 
Darlington that aim to improve health and wellbeing. The theme this year was innovative 
projects that engage our local children and young people in creative and inspiring ways 



NHS Darlington Clinical Commissioning Group annual report and accounts 2015/16 

Page 43 of 104 
 

and enhance their quality of life, confidence and health and wellbeing. Four local projects 
were successful and at the end of the year we invited them to a showcase event to 
celebrate their achievements. 
 
Consultation to improve Mental Health services for people with dementia in County 
Durham and Darlington 

Darlington CCG, Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG and North Durham CCG 
in partnership with NHS Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust (TEWV) 
consulted with local people on three possible options in a Public consultation 4 Jan – 28 
March 2016. The consultation sought the views of local people about proposed changes to 
hospital inpatient services for older people with dementia. The aim of the consultation was 
to help the CCGs make a decision on the location of the wards and to do so they need the 
views of local people. 

Darlington CCG 360 Degree Stakeholder Survey 
The stakeholder survey is carried out annually by Ipsos MORI on behalf of NHS England 
as part of the CCG assurance process. The CCGs second survey since authorisation 
reported in May 2015 and a summary of the findings was presented to the Governing Body 
at its development session in July. The details in the survey together with other 
organisation development work underway with CCG members and staff shaped an action 
plan and informed a refresh of the CCG’s organisation development plan.   
 
Media relations 
The CCG has a regular GP (paid for) column in the local newspaper, the Northern Echo by 
CCG chair, Dr Andrea Jones. The column is a vehicle for promoting the work of the CCG 
and getting key health messages to local people. Pro-active press releases are issued to 
local media as part of the communications and engagement strategy and statements 
issued on a re-active basis responding to media enquiries.  
 
Local authority publications 
The CCG uses Darlington Borough Council’s magazine ‘One Darlington’ that goes to every 
household in Darlington to regularly promote the positive work the CCG is doing to 
improve health outcomes in the community. 
 
 
 

2.2.3 Financial review 

2.2.3.1 Financial performance 
 
The financial accounts have been prepared under a Direction issued by NHS 
Commissioning Board under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 
 
Robust systems of financial governance and financial management monitored by the 
CCG’s Finance Committee have ensured that financial risks were appropriately identified 
and managed during the year enabling the delivery of all financial targets. 
 

http://www.darlingtonccg.nhs.uk/improving-mental-health-services-for-people-with-dementia-in-county-durham-and-darlington/
http://www.darlingtonccg.nhs.uk/improving-mental-health-services-for-people-with-dementia-in-county-durham-and-darlington/
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2.2.3.2 Financial Allocations 
 
CCGs are set resource limits on an annual basis and must contain their expenditure within 
these limits. Separate resource limits are set for revenue and capital expenditure, with 
revenue expenditure limits further split between programme spend 
and running (management and administrative) costs: 
 

• Programme Budget Allocation – funding for direct healthcare expenditure. The CCG 
allocation for programme spend was £144 million; 

• Running Cost Allowance – funding for the administrative costs of running the CCG. 
The CCG allocation for running costs was £2.4 million. 

2.2.3.3 Financial targets and performance for the year 
 
In accordance with NHS England financial planning guidance, the CCG is required to 
deliver a surplus of at least 1% (£1.5 million) of available resources. The CCG has 
delivered a surplus of £1.8 million (1.2%) in line with the plan submitted to NHS England. 
  
Due to prudent financial planning and management, the CCG’s financial performance in 
2015/16 has delivered the plan surplus as was the case for 2014/15. 
  
The CCG has a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended). Our 
performance against these duties is included in note 23 of the full annual accounts which 
are published with this report. 
 
The CCG’s results in 2015/16 are set out in the table below with further detail included in 
note 23 of the full annual accounts. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Target Outcome Delivered Target 
Achieved

Deliver surplus on revenue budgets of at least 1%
Surplus of £1.8m on revenue 
allocation of £146.4m

Maintain Running Costs within allowance
Running cost spend of £2.4m 
against allowance of £2.4m

Maintain capital spending within capital resource 
limit

No capital resource allocated 
to the CCG and no spend 
incurred

N/A

Ensure cash spending is within the cash limit set
Cash managed within 
available resources
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The chart below indicates how the CCG’s funding was split across the services we 
commission: 
 

 
 
 
During the year, the CCG funded a number of service developments and improvements 
including: 
 

• multi-disciplinary teams comprising health, social care and voluntary sector to 
support patients who are at high risk of hospital admission; 

• provision of enhanced GP and Community Matron support to residential homes in 
Darlington 

• a community lymphoedema service 
• a nine bedded unit to provide step down care and convalescence for patients who 

have received hospital treatment 
• development of a female primary care continence pathway to ensure patients 

receive the right care, at the right time and at the right place 

2.2.3.4 Compliance with Better Payment Practice Code 
 
The CCG signed up to the Better Payment Practice Code (BPPC) in 2013/14.  The code 
requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices within 30 days of receipt of a valid 
invoice, or the due date if later. 
 
The NHS aims to pay at least 95% of invoices within 30 days of receipt, or within agreed 
contract terms. Details of the CCG’s compliance with the code are shown in note 5.1 to the 
Financial Statements. 
 

 
 

Non NHS NHS
Target 95.0% Target 95.0%
Result by Number 98.1% Result by Number 99.4%
Result by Value 98.1% Result by Value 100.0%
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Performance against the target is monitored by the CCG on a monthly basis with 
performance maintained at over 95% of invoices paid within 30 days of receipt measured 
against both total invoice value and overall volume of invoices. 

2.2.3.5 Looking Forward 
 
The coming years will present significant financial pressures to Darlington CCG as the 
need for health services is expected to grow faster than our funding. It is clear that the 
existing models and pattern of service provision are unlikely to sustain service quality and 
reasonable access in the light of foreseeable financial settlements.  
 
In order to secure the continuity of high quality healthcare services for the population of 
Darlington, we plan to manage system wide service transformation across the Darlington, 
Durham and Tees via the Better Health Programme integrating this work with the North 
East wide Urgent & Emergency Care Vanguard, the North East & Cumbria LD 
Transformation programme and our local service development plans. This is an 
established programme involving our partners in Local Government, Health Education 
England, NE Ambulance Service, GP organisations and the Voluntary Sector.  
 
The Better Health Programme has two main elements: 

• A major planned acute reconfiguration driven by standards, outcomes and 
workforce 

• A major investment in more appropriate lower cost care in a non-acute settings 
 
The health and social care leadership team is committed jointly to developing options, 
based on work involving 100+ clinicians, with full public engagement, enabling consultation 
to take place in autumn 2016 for planned commencement of implementation in 2017 
 
Following on from 2014/15, the Better Care Fund (BCF), a single pooled budget of £8.1 
million across the CCG and local authority designed to enable transformation in integrated 
health and social care will also be a key enabler for Darlington.  
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2.2.4 Sustainable development 
 

 

2.2.5 Equality, diversity and human rights 
NHS Darlington CCG complies with the Equality Act 2010 and the Public Sector Equality 
Duty and we have demonstrated our commitment to taking Equality, Diversity and Human 
Rights into account in everything we do, whether that is commissioning services, 
employing people, developing policies, communicating, consulting or involving people in 
our work as shown below: 
 
 
The Equality Delivery System 2 (EDS2) 
The EDS2 is a tool that has been designed by the NHS for the NHS to enable 
organisations to analyse their equality performance with the assistance of local 
stakeholders, prepare equality objectives and embed equality into mainstream 
commissioning activities. 
 
We have implemented the Equality Delivery System (EDS2) framework and have been 
using the tool to support the mainstreaming of equalities into all our core business 
functions and performance for the community, patients, carers and staff. 
 

Tenant:

Occupancy Percentage

Electricity 2015/16

Use kWh 106,531

Cost £ 11,647
Carbon Emissions kgCO2 61,247

Gas 2015/16

Use kWh 75,264

Cost £ 2,097
Carbon Emissions kgCO2 15,791

Water 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

Use m3 698 629 628

Cost £ 2,166 2,023 2,004
Carbon Emissions kgCO2 735 662 661

Waste 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

Clinical Use t 1.577 3.136 0.881

Cost £ 568 1,129 317
Carbon Emissions* kgCO2 33 66 19

Domestic Use t 1.879 3.735 5.153

Cost £ 342 679 937
Carbon Emissions* kgCO2 374 743 1,025

Hazardous Use t - - -

Cost £ - - -
Carbon Emissions* kgCO2 - - -

Recycling Use t 0.990 1.969 5.997

Cost £ 120 239 727
Carbon Emissions* kgCO2 21 41 126

Confidential Use t 1.184 2.354 1.356

Cost £ 292 581 335
Carbon Emissions* kgCO2 25 49 28

(Carbon conversion factors from SDU reporting template Jan 2016)
* waste carbon emissions may differ depending on exact disposal method

Summary

38.19%

NHS DARLINGTON CCG
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This has also been an opportunity to raise equality in service commissioning and gain 
insight into the local population’s diverse health needs. 
 
Our equality objectives for 2013/14/15 have been reviewed and updated, we have 
implemented the EDS2 tool to develop and publish our equality objectives for 2016/17. 
 
The CCG Executive has approved plans detailing actions we will take to ensure that 
individuals, communities and staff are treated equitably. Progress against these action 
plans is reported to the Executive regularly. 
 
Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES) 
In accordance with the Public Sector Equality Duty, the NHS Equality and Diversity 
Council has agreed measures to ensure employees from black and ethnic minority (BME) 
backgrounds have equal access to career opportunities and receive fair treatment in the 
workplace. 
 
One of these measures (alongside EDS2) is the Workforce Race Equality Standard 
(WRES) and asks NHS organisations to demonstrate progress against workforce equality 
by collecting and analysing their workforce data in relation to 9 specific indicators. 
 
The most recent update from NHS England in July 2015 advised that CCGs are to have 
“due regard” to the WRES and are expected to apply the WRES to themselves.  
 
It has been recognised that for some CCGs this could be problematic due to having small 
workforces (under 100 members of staff) and information becoming identifiable. Further 
guidance has been sought from NHS England on this issue. 
 
The CCG  has taken “due regard” themselves to the metrics contained in the Workforce 
Race Equality Standard to help improve workplace experiences and representation at all 
levels for black and minority ethnic staff. 
 
The CCG continues to engage with NHS England, who acknowledges that further 
guidance is required for CCG’s on how to effectively apply the standard, and are looking to 
publish further documentation at the beginning of February 2016. The CCG awaits this 
guidance to ensure compliance with the WRES. 
 
Equality Impact Assessment  
Our Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) Toolkit and Guidance which covers all equality 
groups offered protection under the Equality Act 2010 (Race, Disability, Gender, Age, 
Sexual Orientation, Religion/Belief, Marriage and Civil Partnership and Gender Re-
assignment) in addition to Human Rights and Carers has been refreshed for 2016.  
 
Our EIA process ensures that we can consider the impact or effect, either positive or 
negative, of our policies, procedures and functions on various sections of the population 
we serve. For any negative impacts identified we will take immediate steps to deal with 
such issues as part of the Action Plan set out in the tool to make sure equity of service 
delivery is available for all as well as the opportunity to continuously monitor progress 
against challenges identified. 
 
The tool also now includes checks in relation the Accessible Information Standard to aid 
compliance with the Standard when commissioning services to ensure that information is 
provided to all service users and patients in a way they can understand. 
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Our staff has been offered interactive training on how to complete the document as well as  
process guidance within the EIA, ‘Frequently Asked Questions, Impact Assessment 
Questions and a Process Flow chart are also available for reference. 
 
Governance 
Equality and Diversity is governed and reports into the Executive. The Executive ensures 
we are compliant with legislative, mandatory and regulatory requirements regarding 
equality and diversity, develops and delivers national and regional diversity-related 
initiatives within the CCG, provides a forum for sharing issues and opportunities, functions 
as a two-way conduit for information dissemination and escalation, monitors progress 
against the Equality Strategy and supports us in the achievement of key equality and 
diversity objectives. 
 
A quarterly Governance Assurance Report is submitted to the Governing Body outlining 
relevant updates in relation to EDHR. 
 
Staff Training 
Equality and Diversity training is a mandatory requirement for our staff with induction 
training on EDHR being provided for new starters and mandatory refresher training carried 
out every three years. This includes online training assessments as well as face to face 
workshops as requested. 
 
Staff involved in the recruitment of new staff is also required to undertake recruitment and 
selection training which includes awareness of equality and diversity legislation as it 
relates to the recruitment process.  
 
 
Engagement and Partnership Working  
We work in partnership with local NHS Trusts as well as local voluntary sector 
organisations and community groups to identify the needs of the diverse local community 
we serve to improve health and healthcare for the local population.  
 
We seek the views of patients, carers and the public through individual feedback/input, 
consultations, working with other organisations and community groups, attendance at 
community events and engagement activity including patient surveys, focus groups and 
Healthwatch. 
  
As the local commissioners of health services, we seek to ensure that the services that are 
purchased on behalf of our local population reflect their needs. We appreciate that to 
deliver this requires meaningful consultation and involvement of all our stakeholders.  We 
aim to ensure that comments and feedback from our local communities are captured and, 
where possible, acted upon and give local people the opportunity to influence local health 
services on their terms and enable people to have their say using a variety of methods; 
from completing surveys to attending events and providing feedback either online, via 
post, text or telephone. We invite people to be involved as little or as much as they like, 
enabling them to help shape and influence the way NHS health services are 
commissioned.  
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This year, through our Commissioning Support Unit, we have continued to work closely 
with other local NHS organisations to support the regional working that has been a legacy 
of the Equality, Diversity and Human Rights Regional Leads Meetings.  
 
Accessibility and Communications 
We ensure that our public buildings are accessible for people with a disability by ensuring 
all buildings have had disability access audits. We use everyday language solutions when 
an interpreter is required by telephone and when face to face interpreting may be needed. 
Information for patients and the general public is available in other languages or formats 
such as large print or Braille and audio, upon request.  
 
Accessible Information Standard 
The Accessible Information Standard advises organisations how they should ensure that 
disabled patients receive information in formats that they can understand and they receive 
appropriate support to help them to communicate. 
 
The CCG understands that by 1 April 2016 all organisations that provide NHS or publicly 
funded adult social care must identify and record information and communication needs 
with service users: 
 
•At the first interaction or registration with their service 
•As part of on-going routine interaction with the service by existing service users. 
 
We have acknowledged this commitment and included the Accessible Information 
Standard in our revised Equality Impact Assessments tool ensuring that the standard is 
considered and we are compliant when Equality Impact Assessing all new and existing 
services. 
 
Compliments and Complaints 
We welcome feedback, positive or negative, about people’s experience of local NHS 
services as this helps us to improve services for patients. 
 
Equal Opportunities for staff 
We can demonstrate fair and equitable recruitment, workforce engagement and 
employment terms and conditions to ensure levels of pay and related terms and conditions 
are fairly determined for all posts, with staff doing equal work, and work rated as of equal 
value, being entitled to equal pay. 
 
 
Two Tick Disability Symbol  
The CCG has successfully renewed its accreditation as a Two Tick Disability employer for 
2016. The symbol, awarded by Jobcentre Plus, demonstrates our commitment to employ, 
retain and develop the abilities of disabled staff.  
 
As a Two Tick Disability Symbol employer we have displayed five commitments regarding 
recruitment, training, retention, consultation and disability awareness: 
 
• To interview all disabled applicants who meet the minimum criteria for a job vacancy 

and to consider them on their abilities. 
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• To discuss with disabled employees, at any time but at least once a year, what both 
parties can do to make sure disabled employees can develop and use their abilities. 

• To make every effort when employees become disabled to make sure they stay in 
employment. 

• To take action to ensure that all employees develop the appropriate level of disability 
awareness needed to make these commitments work. 

• To review these commitments each year and assess what has been achieved, plan 
ways to improve on them and let employees and Jobcentre Plus know about progress 
and future plans. 

 
Leadership 
Our E&D lead for Equality and Diversity sits on the Executive Team and is a member of 
the Governing Body. A quarterly Governance Assurance Report is submitted to the board 
outlining relevant updates in relation to EDHR. 
 
 
 
 
 

Ali Wilson 

Accountable Officer, NHS Darlington CCG 

26th May 2016 
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3 Accountability report 

3.1 Corporate Governance report 

3.1.1 Directors Report 

3.1.1.1 Governing Body 
 

The Governing Body is responsible for reviewing decisions and formally approving all the 
plans for NHS Darlington CCG.  It ensures that the CCG has appropriate arrangements 
in place to exercise its functions effectively, efficiently and economically, and in 
accordance with the principles of good governance. Further details of the governance 
framework and organisational structure operating within the CCG, including the role of 
Governing Body and related committees can be found in the Governance Statement 
 
Details of Members of the Membership Body and Governing Body are below. 

 
 

Andrea Jones, Chair 
Originally from Leeds Andrea qualified as a doctor from the University of Newcastle, and 
started work as a GP in 1990. As Chair of the Darlington CCG, her role includes overall 
responsibility of the Governing Body and engagement of clinicians, the public, patients 
and key stakeholders. 
 
Alison Wilson, Interim Accountable Officer 
Ms Wilson has worked in the public sector for more than 30 years, the last ten of 
those on Teesside. Ali has many years’ experience in health services commissioning 
working at Board level. This is informed by a background that includes health 
services research, service improvement, medical education, and in hospital and 
general practice based clinical practice. Ali was one of the country’s first Master’s 
nurse practitioner graduates. As a former Fulbright Fellow in the University of 
Minnesota, USA, Ali maintains a keen interest in patient and public participation, the 
focus of her Fulbright experience. Ali has acted as Interim Accountable Officer since May 
2015 due to the prolonged sickness absence of Martin Phillips. 
Ali was appointed to the post of Accountable Officer for the CCG on a permanent basis 
from 1st May 2016. 
 
Martin Phillips, Chief Officer 
Martin joined the NHS in 1984 as a graduate working in Sunderland. He has 
accumulated almost 30 years of experience in the North East, working in a range of 
operational, planning and commissioning roles. He took the CCG through the assurance 
process to become formally established. 
 
Alison MacNaughton-Jones, GP Chair Members Assembly 
Dr Macnaughton-Jones has worked at Rockliffe Court Surgery practice for 10 years. This 
was initially as a salaried doctor and subsequently as a partner on the retirement of Dr 
Bagshaw. She has two young children who take up most of her free time! Her main 
interests are women's health and family planning but she also leads on chronic disease 
management in the surgery. When not working or looking after children her interests are 
running (or ambling slowly) and looking after her menagerie of cats.  
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Richard Harker, Quality Lead 
Richard was born and bred in Darlington and has been a GP for 28 years.  His main 
interests are quality in general practice and performance assessments of doctors giving 
concern. 

 
Angela Galloway, Secondary Care Doctor 
Angela joined as an interim Secondary Care Doctor in December 2014 and took up the 
substantive post in September 2015. Angela was previously a Consultant Medical 
Microbiologist and I previously held Consultant posts in Merseydide, Durham and 
Newcastle. 
 
Michelle Thompson BEM, Lay Member for Patient and Public Involvement 
A volunteer who lost her sister to cancer then survived the disease herself, Michelle has 
pledged to ensure a strong voice for patients.  She raises funds and awareness for 
Macmillan Cancer Support, and was recently appointed CEO of Healthwatch Darlington 
having previously been the chair of the organisation. 
 
John Flook, Governance Lay Member 
John has a wealth of NHS and financial expertise built up during his 20 years 
experience as Director of Finance and in non-executive roles across the North East. 

 
 
Andie Mackay, Lay Member 
Andie was a serving firefighter with over 27 years experience with the County Durham 
and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service.  He now works for Stockton Borough Council 
as a Technical and Commercial Services Manager. Andie chairs the CCG and NHS 
England joint committee for commissioning primary medical care services. 
 
Lisa Tempest, Chief Finance Officer 
Lisa joined the CCG from South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, where she was 
Chief Operating Officer for the Community Services Division.  Prior to joining the NHS in 
2008, Lisa worked for BASF plc, National Power plc and Nike Inc. 
 
 
Diane Murphy, Executive Nurse 
Diane has been nursing since 1981 and qualified as a registered nurse in 1984 and health 
visitor in 1991. She has worked in both acute and community settings both clinically and 
managerially and has many years’ experience in Clinical Governance, quality and patient 
safety and more recently has led large scale change and transformation. She is 
passionate about continuous improvement and ensuring the NHS provides efficient and 
high quality services to everyone. 
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Member practices 

Blacketts Medical Practice 
63-65 Bondgate 
Darlington 
County Durham 
DL3 7JR 

Felix House Surgery 
Middleton Lane 
Middleton St George 
County Durham 
DL2 1AA 

Orchard Court Surgery 
Orchard Road 
Darlington 
County Durham 
DL3 6HZ 

Carmel Medical Practice 
Nunnery Lane 
Darlington 
County Durham 
DL3 8SQ 

Parkgate Surgery 
Park Place 
Darlington 
County Durham 
DL1 5LW 

Rockliffe Court 
Hurworth Place 
Darlington 
County Durham 
DL2 2DS 

Clifton Court Medical Centre 
Victoria Road 
Darlington 
County Durham 
DL1 5JN 

Moorlands Surgery 
139a Willow Road 
Darlington 
County Durham 
DL3 9JP 

Whinfield Surgery 
Whinbush Way 
Darlington 
County Durham 
DL1 3RT 

The Surgery 
Denmark Street 
Darlington 
County Durham 
DL3 0PD 

Neasham Road Surgery 
186 Neasham Road 
Darlington 
County Durham 
DL1 4YL 
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Darlington CCG Register of Interests 2015-2016 

Members Name Designation Gifts & 
Hospitality 

Remuneration Related 
Undertakings 

Contracts Houses 
Land & 

Buildings 

Shares & 
Securities 

Non-
Financial 
Interests 

Election 
Expenses 

Andrea Jones CCG Chair No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Ali Wilson 
 

Interim 
Accountable 

Officer 

No interest 
declared 

Employed as 
Chief Officer, 
HAST CCG 

Chief Officer, 
HAST CCG 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

 Public sector 
directorship 

with 
Community 

Ventures (The 
LIFT 

Company) 

 Academic 
Health 

Science 
Network – 
Director 

 Ad Astra 
Academy 
(Member) 

No interest 
declared 

Martin Phillips 
 
 
 

Chief Officer No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Chair of 
Darlington 

Harriers and 
Athletic Club 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Wife is 
employed as 

Paediatric 
Specialist 

Physiotherap
ist at 

CDDFT. 

No interest 
declared 

Angela Galloway Secondary Care 
Doctor 

No interest 
declared 

Governing Body 
member for North 

Durham CCG, 
Secondary Care 

Doctor 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Trustee and 
Vice Chair of 
St Cuthbert’s 

Hospice, 
Durham 

No interest 
declared 
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Members Name Designation Gifts & 
Hospitality 

Remuneration Related 
Undertakings 

Contracts Houses 
Land & 

Buildings 

Shares & 
Securities 

Non-
Financial 
Interests 

Election 
Expenses 

Andie MacKay Lay Member No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

John Flook Lay Member 
Governance 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

NHS 
Professionals 
Ltd – Senior 

Non Executive & 
Chair of Audit 

Committee 
£35K per annum 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Michelle 
Thompson 

 

Lay Member 
PPI/PPE 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

CEO 
Healthwatch 
Darlington 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Volunteer 
fundraiser 

and 
ambassador 
– MacMillan 

Cancer 
Support 

No interest 
declared 

Lisa Tempest 
 
 
 

Chief Finance 
Officer 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Sister is 
employed 
by NTH FT 
in a clinical 

capacity 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Diane Murphy 
(Jun – Mar) 

Interim Chief 
Nurse 

No interest 
declared 

Employee of 
CDDFT on 

secondment to 
DCCG 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Gill Findley 
(Apr – May) 

Chief Nurse  No interest 
declared 

Company 
Secretary for 
Magnitas Ltd 

(Magnitas is an 
environmenta         
l consultative 

service). 
Governing Body 

member of 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Related by 
marriage to 

the McCardle 
family of 

Helen 
McCardle 

Care.   

No interest 
declared 
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Members Name Designation Gifts & 
Hospitality 

Remuneration Related 
Undertakings 

Contracts Houses 
Land & 

Buildings 

Shares & 
Securities 

Non-
Financial 
Interests 

Election 
Expenses 

Durham Dales, 
Easington and 

Sedgefield CCG 

Jackie Kay Assistant Chief 
Officer 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Partner is an 
employee of 
ISS a facility 

services 
provider to 

CDDFT 

No interest 
declared 

Richard Harker Quality Lead GP No interest 
declared 

Darlington CCG 
Quality Lead  
GP Whinfield 

Surgery 
GMC Performing 

assessments; 
medico-legal 

reports 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Murray Rose Director of 
Services for 

People, 
Darlington 

Borough Council 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

James Carlton Lead GP Adult 
Safeguarding 

Lead GP 
Cancer 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Glenda Lynn PA to Chief 
Officer & Chair, 
Darlington CCG 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Karen Crook Practice 
Manager for 

Carmel Medical 
Practice 

No interest 
declared 

Employed by 
Carmel Medical 

Practice 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 
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Members Name Designation Gifts & 
Hospitality 

Remuneration Related 
Undertakings 

Contracts Houses 
Land & 

Buildings 

Shares & 
Securities 

Non-
Financial 
Interests 

Election 
Expenses 

 

Michael Close Practice 
Manager for 
Clifton Court 

Medical Practice 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Non-executive 
Director – 
Innovative 

County Durham 
(Charity) 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Louise Hoggett Practice 
Manager for 

Whinfield 
Medical Practice 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Jenny Steel 
 

GP Lead MDT 
Frail Elderly 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Chief Executive 
of Primary 
Healthcare 

Darlington Ltd 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Gomathy Megala 
Umashankar 

GP and Practice 
Lead for 

Blackett’s 
Medical Practice 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Own one 
fifth of the 

land 
/building 

under 
Blacketts 
Medical 

Practice as 
a current 
partner 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Charles McGarrity GP and Practice 
Lead for 
Parkgate 
Surgery 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

GP 
Member of 

a 
Darlington 
Practice 

Employee 
of 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 
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Members Name Designation Gifts & 
Hospitality 

Remuneration Related 
Undertakings 

Contracts Houses 
Land & 

Buildings 

Shares & 
Securities 

Non-
Financial 
Interests 

Election 
Expenses 

Intrahealth 
which holds 

NHS 
contracts 
and may 
bid for 

future NHS 
contracts 

 
Richard Stevens GP and Practice 

Lead for 
Orchard Court 

Surgery 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Joint 
Owner of 
Orchard 

Court 
Surgery 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Basil Penney 
 
 
 

GP, Practice 
Lead for Carmel 
Medical Practice 

& Respiratory 
Lead 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Rachael White 
 
 

Admin Assistant No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Victoria Foot 
 
 

GP and Practice 
Lead for Clifton 
Court Medical 

Practice 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Medical 
Adviser 
Young 

Foundation
s Fostering 

 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Stephanie Edge 
 

Admin Assistant No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

James Nevison GP and Practice 
Lead for 

Denmark St 
Surgery 

Partner at 
Denmark St 

Surgery 

No interest 
declared 

Partner is GP 
Practice who 

may hold 
contract with 

new CCG 
 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 
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Members Name Designation Gifts & 
Hospitality 

Remuneration Related 
Undertakings 

Contracts Houses 
Land & 

Buildings 

Shares & 
Securities 

Non-
Financial 
Interests 

Election 
Expenses 

Anthony Shaw GP and Practice 
Lead for 

Moorlands 
Surgery 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Alison 
McNaughton-

Jones 

Chair Members 
Assembly 

GP and Practice 
Lead for 

Rockliffe Court 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

GMS 
contract 

Shares in 
surgery 
building 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Christine Keen Director of 
Commissioning, 
NHS England 

 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Denise Jones NHS England, 
Primary Care 

Commissioning 
Manager (GP) 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Audrey Lax Community 
Council 

Champion 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Brenda Marshall Community 
Council 

Champion 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Volunteer at 
GOLD Health 

Group 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Grahame Levett Community 
Council 

Champion 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Member of 
Felix House 

Surgery PPG 

No interest 
declared 

Jenny Young Community 
Council 

Champion 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

John Hodge Community 
Council 

Champion 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Member of 
Whinfield 
Medical 

Practice PPG 
Lymphedem

a Support 
Group 

No interest 
declared 
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Members Name Designation Gifts & 
Hospitality 

Remuneration Related 
Undertakings 

Contracts Houses 
Land & 

Buildings 

Shares & 
Securities 

Non-
Financial 
Interests 

Election 
Expenses 

Karen Gannon Community 
Council 

Champion 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Patient 
advocate for 

Breast 
Cancer Now 
Member of 
Neasham 

Road 
Surgery PPG 
Healthwatch 
Darlington 

No interest 
declared 

Kath Wall Community 
Council 

Champion 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Macmillan 
GOLD Health 

Group 
PPG 

Member 

No interest 
declared 
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Disclosure of information to auditors  
 
Additional supporting information 
 
In the case of each of the persons who are members at the time the report is approved: 
 

• so far as the members are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the 
NHS body's auditor is unaware; 

• members have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a member in 
order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish 
that the entity's auditor is aware of that information. 
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3.1.2 Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities  
 

The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical 

Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be 

appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England).  NHS England has 

appointed Ali Wilson to be the Accountable Officer of the Clinical Commissioning Group. 

The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer, including responsibilities for the propriety 

and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is answerable, for 

keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time 

the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them to ensure that 

the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction) and for safeguarding 

the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 

prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities), are set out in the Clinical 

Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed 

each Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year financial statements 

in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The financial statements are 

prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of 

the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity 

and cash flows for the financial year. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with 

the requirements of the Manual for Accounts issued by the Department of Health and in 

particular to: 

• Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant 

accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on 

a consistent basis; 

• Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 

• State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Manual for 

Accounts issued by the Department of Health have been followed, and disclose and 

explain any material departures in the financial statements; and, 

• Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. 
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To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set 

out in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 

I also confirm that:  

• as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the entity’s 

auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps 

that I ought to have taken to make himself or herself aware of any relevant audit 

information and to establish that the entity’s auditors are aware of that information.  

• that the annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and 

understandable and that I take personal responsibility for the annual report and 

accounts and the judgments required for determining that it is fair, balanced and 

understandable  

 

 

 

Ali Wilson 

Accountable Officer, NHS Darlington CCG 

26th May 2016 
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3.1.3 Governance Statement 
 
1. Introduction and context 

The clinical commissioning group was licenced from 1 April 2013 under provisions 

enacted in the Health and Social Care Act 2012, which amended the National 

Health Service Act 2006. 

As at 1 April 2013, the clinical commissioning group was licensed without 

conditions.  

2. Scope of responsibility 
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of 

internal control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s 

policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for 

which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned 

to me in Managing Public Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out 

in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 

I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered 

prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and 

effectively, safeguarding financial propriety and regularity. 

3. Compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code 
We are not required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code. However, 

we have reported on our corporate governance arrangements by drawing upon best 

practice available, including those aspects of the UK Corporate Governance Code 

we consider to be relevant to the clinical commissioning group and best practice. 
 

This Governance Statement is intended to demonstrate how the CCG had regard to 

the principles set out in the code appropriate for CCGs for the financial year ended 

31st March 2016. 

4. The Clinical Commissioning Group Governance Framework 
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), at paragraph 14L(2)(b) states: 

The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made 

appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it complies with such generally accepted 

principles of good governance as are relevant to it. 

  The CCG has a Constitution based on the Department of Health’s Model Template 

that has been amended and approved to take into account subsequent guidance. 
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Review of the CCG’s Constitution confirms that it complies with the elements of the 

self-certification checklist, including: 

• specifying the arrangements made by the CCG for the discharge of its functions; 

• specifying the arrangements made by the CCG for the discharge of the functions of 

the Governing Body; 

• the procedures to be followed by the CCG in making decisions; 

• the arrangements it has made to secure that individuals to whom health services 

are being, or may be, provided pursuant to its commissioning arrangements are 

involved; 

• arrangements made by the CCG for discharging its duties in respect of registers of 

interests and management of conflicts of interests; 

• arrangements made by the CCG for ensuring that there is transparency about the 

decisions of the group and the manner in which they are made. 

 

  During the year 2015/16, the CCG Governing Body met on 12 occasions with five  

meetings held in public. Agendas were structured to deal with strategic, performance, 

quality assurance, risk and governance issues. The arrangements meet the 

requirements of best practice guidance in respect of risk management and ensure 

that a strong accountability framework has been established. They reflect the public 

service values of accountability, probity and openness and specify as Accountable 

Officer my responsibility for ensuring that these values are met within the CCG. The 

members report section of the annual report outlines the detail relating to the 

membership practices and Governing Body and their committee and sub-committees 

and meetings attendance record. 

  A schedule of Governing Body and Governing Body Committee membership together 

with attendance record for 2015/16 is set out below: 
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3.1.3.1 Governing Body and Committees Members 2015/16 CCG  
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Khalid Azam 
(Mar) 

Director of Commissioning  IA         

Michael Close 
(Jun-Mar) 

Practice Manager for Clifton Court Medical Practice 
 

  M (3)     M (8)   

Karen Crook 
 

Practice Manager for Carmel Medical Practice   M (2)     M (0) 
Apr-May 

IA  

Sarah Dodsworth 
 

Practice Nurse Representative for Whinfield Medical 
Practice 

  M (4)    M (4)    

Gill Findley 
(Apr) 

Chief Nurse and Quality Lead M (0) M (1) IA  M (1)  VC (1) M (0)   

John Flook 
 

Governance Lay Member M (3)     C (7)    M (0) 

Victoria Foot 
 

GP and Practice Representative for Clifton Court 
Medical Practice 

  M (4)    M (6) 
Apr-Dec 

   

Ahmet Fuat 
 

GP and Practice Representative for Carmel Medical 
Practice 

  M (1)    M (1) 
Apr-Jan 

   

Angela Galloway 
 

Secondary Care Doctor M (3)    M (2)     M (1) 

Karen Gannon 
(Jan – Mar) 

Community Champion 
 

        M (3)  

Richard Harker Quality Lead, GP Partner and Practice Representative 
for Whinfield Medical Practice 

M (3) M (11) M (4)  M (1) M (6) C (9)    

Sara Hills 
(Jan – Mar) 

Community Champion         M (1)  

John Hodge 
(Jan – Mar) 

Community Champion          M (3)  

Louise Hoggett 
(Feb-Mar) 

Practice Manager for Whinfield Medical Practice 
 

  M (1)    M (2)    

Jodie Harrison 
(Sept-Mar) 

GP and Practice Representative for Neasham Road 
Surgery 

  M (4)        

Andrea Jones 
 

Chair C (3) M (11) IA C       M (1) 

Jackie Kay 
 

Assistant Chief Officer IA  M (7) IA M  IA  M (0)  IA  
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Audrey Lax 
(Jan – Mar) 

Community Champion          M (3)  

Graham Levett 
(Jan – Mar) 

Community Champion          M (2)  

Andie Mackay 
 

Lay Member Finance M (3)    M (3) M (4) M (6) C (10)  M (1) 

Adrian Marshall 
 

Practice Representative for Felix House Surgery   M (4)    M (5) 
Apr-Jan 

   

Brenda Marshall 
(Jan – Mar) 

Community Champion         M (3)  

Charles McGarrity 
 

GP and Practice Representative for Parkgate Surgery   M (3)    M (3) 
Apr-Jan 

   

Alison McNaughton-Jones GP and Practice Representative for Rockliffe Court 
Surgery 

M (2) 
Sept-Mar 

 C (7)    M (4) 
Apr-Dec 

   

Andrew Michie 
(Oct-Mar) 

GP and Practice Representative for Blacketts Medical 
Practice 

  M (3)     M (0)   

Diane Murphy 
(June-Mar) 

Chief Nurse M (1) M (5) IA  M (0)  M (4) 
VC (1) 

   

James Nevison 
 

GP and Practice Representative for Denmark Street 
Surgery 

  M (5) M     M (4) 
Apr-Jan 

IA  

Basil Penney 
 

GP and Practice Representative for Carmel Medical 
Practice 

  M (4)        

Martin Phillips 
 

Chief Officer M (0) C (1) IA M  M (1)    IA IA 

Anthony Shaw 
 

GP and Practice Representative for Moorlands 
Surgery 

  M (3)    M (5)    

Andrew Stainer Head of Transformation 
 

 M (4) 
Nov-
Mar 

     IA   

Jenny Steel 
(Mar) 

Executive GP - Transformation  IA         

Richard Stevens 
 

GP and Practice Representative for Orchard Court 
Surgery 

  M (6)     M (8)   

Liz Stewart Practice Manager for Felix House Surgery 
 

  M (5)        

Lisa Tempest 
 

Chief Finance Officer M (3) M (1) 
C (11) 

IA  M (3) IA  M (9)   

Michelle Thompson 
 

Lay Member for Patient and Public Involvement  M (3)    M (2) M (6) M (8)  C (9) C (1) 

Gomathy Umashankar 
(April-Oct) 

GP and Practice Representative for Blacketts Medical 
Practice 

  M (4)     M (0)   

Kath Wall 
(Jan – Mar) 

Community Champion          M (3)  
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Ali Wilson 
(May-Mar) 

Interim Accountable Officer 
 

M (2) M (1) IA M M (2)    IA M (1) 

Jenny Young 
(Jan – Mar) 

Community Champion          M (3)  

 

Key: 

M – Member 

IA – In Attendance 
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The CCG has continued to operate with a committee structure which reflects guidance 

and best practice, including Governing Body; Remuneration and Terms of Service 

Committee, Governance, Audit & Risk Committee, Management Executive, Quality, 

Performance and Innovation Committee, Finance Committee and Clinical Leadership 

Committee. Terms of reference have been agreed for these committees that support 

the organisation in the delivery of effective governance. The organisational structure 

including key committees is set out below. 
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Description of the established Governing Body Committees 

The roles of each of the Governing Body committees are set out broadly below. The 

Governing Body committees have authority under the Scheme of Delegation to establish 

sub committees or sub groups to enable them to fulfill their role. Each of the Governing 

Body Committees has detailed Terms of Reference which are referenced within the CCG’s 

constitution and which are available on the CCG’s website. Each committee is authorised 

by the Governing Body to pursue any activity within their terms of reference and within the 

scheme of reservation and delegation. 

Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee 

The committee is established to make recommendations to the Governing Body on 

remuneration, fees, pensions, allowances and conditions for senior employees of the CCG 

and people who provide services to the CCG. This includes remuneration for executive 

officers as well as the Chair and independent lay members and other Governing Body 

members. The Committee also considers any business cases for early retirement and 

redundancy. The committee reviews the performance of the accountable officer and other 

senior team members and determines annual salary awards. It is also responsible for 

considering the severance payments of the accountable officer and of other senior staff. 

The Committee met once during 2015/6 in order to review senior managers’ remuneration 

for the year and make relevant recommendations to the Governing Body, with no further 

meetings required to date.  The committee has not yet formally carried out a self-

assessment of performance for this financial year. 

Governance, Audit and Risk Committee 
The Governance, Audit and Risk Committee supports the Governing Body in its main 

function of ensuring the CCG has made appropriate arrangements to ensure functions are 

exercised effectively, efficiently and economically and that all relevant principles of good 

governance are adhered to, specifically that the CCG has good systems and processes 

across all of its functions and statutory responsibilities. 

 

In line with the requirements of the NHS Audit Committee Handbook and NHS Codes of 

Conduct and Accountability, the Committee provides the CCG with an independent and 

objective review of systems of internal control, risk and governance processes and 

arrangements, and compliance with laws, guidance, and regulations governing the NHS. 

 

The governance, audit and risk committee reviews the establishment and maintenance of 
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an effective system of integrated governance, risk management and internal control, 

across the whole of the Group’s activities that support the achievement of the Group’s 

objectives. Importantly it provides the Governing Body with an independent and objective 

view of the Groups financial systems, financial information and compliance with laws, 

regulations and directions in so far as they relate to finance. 

 

The committee has oversight to review any decision where a GP or other individual has 

declared an interest, but has agreed to continue to be engaged in the consequent 

discussion and potentially the decision. Its work dovetails with that of the Quality, 

Performance and Innovation Committee to seek assurance that robust clinical quality is 

in place to assure the CCG of its responsibilities for safeguarding and mandatory training. 

 

The Committee met 7 times during the financial year 2015/16. The cycle of business 

includes review of the CCG’s risk management processes, including the Assurance 

Framework and corporate risk register.  The Committee considers the work of both internal 

and external audit, together with other assurance functions including in particular those 

relating to North of England Commissioning Support (NECS), upon which the CCG is 

dependent for the majority of commissioning support, to fulfil its role of providing 

assurance to the Governing Body.    

 
The Governance, Audit and Risk Committee, as part of its terms of reference, provides an 

Annual Report of its work to the Governing Body, as well as providing interim updates as 

required.  The draft report covering the financial year 2015/16 was made available 

alongside the final Annual Report and Accounts in May 2016 to support the final 

Governance Statement.  The principal purpose of the report is to provide assurance to the 

Governing Body and to support the Accountable Officer’s review of the internal control 

arrangements. The Governance, Audit and Risk Committee has a business cycle which 

enables the Committee to carry out its key objectives necessary to support its assurances 

regarding the effectiveness of the organisation’s internal controls.  

 

During the year, the Committee has fulfilled this annual business cycle, with key work 

completed by the Committee including: 

 

• appointment of internal auditors, agreement of the internal audit plan and review of 

progress against that plan, 
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• review of risk management processes, including risk management policy, 

assurance framework and corporate risk register, 

• review and agreement of financial governance arrangements , including standing 

financial instructions, 

• review of performance against the annual work programmes for Governance, 

Health & Safety, Fire Safety, Research Governance, Information Governance. 

• review and approval of the annual accounts and Annual Report of the CCG under 

delegated authority from the Governing Body.  

 

.Executive Committee  
The Governing Body has delegated the day to day operational management of the CCG to 

the Executive Committee.  This includes the implementation and delivery of plans agreed 

by the Governing Body. It is responsible for; 

• Delivery of strategic direction agreed by the governing body 

• Delivery of the financial plan and risk management arrangements 

• Delivery of communications and engagement strategy 

• Oversight of the delivery of the quality and outcomes framework  

• Effective operational management of the CCG in accordance with policies and 

procedures 

• Effective safeguarding of children and vulnerable adults 

• Effective clinical governance 

The Management Executive meets formally once per month and highlights of the work 

performed during the year include: 

• Oversight of CCG procurement activities including decision making in respect of 

active procurements in line with the CCGs Scheme of Delegation 

• Review and refresh of the CCGs Equality Objectives to ensure legal obligations 

under the Equality Act 2010 and the Public Sector Equality Duty are met 

• Consideration of a business case to develop a new integrated model of care for 

diabetes in Darlington 

• Consideration and support of a proposal from Tees Esk and Wear Valley NHS 

Foundation Trust to undertake a consultation on the reconfiguration of inpatient 

wards for older people with organic mental illness in County Durham and Darlington 
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Finance Committee 
The Finance Committee supports the CCG to achieve financial balance, including delivery 

of quality, innovation, productivity and prevention (QIPP) financial targets, delivery of the 

Groups Clear and Credible Plan and annual Delivery Plan and organisational financial 

performance objectives, through reviewing performance in-year and implementing any 

relevant actions as required. 

 

The Finance Committee met nine times during the year and its work has included: 

• monitoring of financial performance to ensure that national financial targets were 

met 

• monitoring of the QIPP plan and the identification of alternative schemes where 

planned schemes failed to deliver to ensure delivery of the planned QIPP saving 

• Monitoring of the Financial Recovery plan to ensure in year financial balance was 

achieved and can be maintained in future years 

• ensuring that financial risks were identified and appropriate controls and and action 

plans were put in place to mitigate financial loss to the CCG 

 
Quality, Performance and Innovation Committee 
 
The duties of the Quality, Performance and Innovation Committee are driven by the 

priorities for the CCG and any associated risks or areas of clinical quality across 

commissioned services and primary care services. The Quality, Performance and 

Innovation Committee has an ambition of excellence in clinical quality, clinical 

effectiveness and patient experience, and to improve health outcomes and all associated 

risks or areas of quality improvement. It leads innovation and on embedding best practice 

principles in commissioned services, always acting with a view to securing continuous 

improvement in the quality of care and services. The Committee innovates and oversees 

research to deliver heath gain, improved patient safety and a better experience for 

patients. The committee supports the CCG to achieve organisational performance 

objectives, through reviewing performance in-year and implementing relevant any actions 

as required. 

 

The primary objectives of the Committee are to safeguard patients from harm, develop 

high quality services and foster a culture of safety. 
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The Quality, Research and Innovation Committee met eleven times during the year and its 

work has included 

• Reviewed membership following consultation with member assembly, 

committee now includes a practice manager representative 

• Regularly received full quality and performance reports for all providers 

identifying areas of concern for further exploration with the relevant provider 

in the relevant clinical  quality review groups   

• Received and reviewed annual reports for adult safeguarding and children’s 

safeguarding 

• Received and reviewed locally benchmarking activity reports on GP practices  

• Reviewed prescribing quality schemes  

• Reviewed , updated and approved a range of key  policies 

: 

 
Joint Commissioning Committee 

The Joint Commissioning Committee, which is accountable to the group’s Governing 

Body, has been established in accordance with the statutory provisions enabling NHS 

England to delegate to the CCG authority to exercise the primary care commissioning 

functions set out in Schedule 2 in accordance with section 13Z of the NHS Act. The 

Committee functions as a corporate decision-making body for the management of the 

delegated functions and the exercise of the delegated powers.   The committee makes 

collective decisions on the review, planning and procurement of primary care services in 

Darlington under delegated authority from NHS England. The role of the Committee is to 

carry out the functions relating to the commissioning of primary medical services under 

section 83 of the NHS Act, except those relating to individual GP performance 

management, which have been reserved to NHS England [and such CCG functions 

under sections 3 and 3A of the NHS Act as have been delegated to the joint committee]. 

This includes the following activities: 

• Commissioning and contracting for primary medical care services for the 

Darlington geographical area via GMS, PMS and APMS contracts.  

• Commissioning and contracting newly designed enhanced services (“Local 

Enhanced Services” and “Directed Enhanced Services”); 
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• Design of local incentive schemes in addition to or as an alternative to the Quality 
Outcomes Framework (QOF);  

  
• Decision making on whether to establish new GP practices in an area;  

  
• Approving practice mergers;  

 
• Making decisions on ‘discretionary’ payment (e.g., returner/retainer schemes);  

 
• Planning, including carrying out needs assessments and reviews as appropriate;  

 
• Co-ordinating a common approach to primary care commissioning as 

appropriate.  
 

The Joint Commissioning Committee met three times during the financial year 

2015/16, and highlights from the first year’s work include:  

• Agreement of Terms of Reference for the committee to reflect the delegation 

arrangements for commissioning of primary care 

• Review of the primary care financial plan and performance against agreed 

budgets 

• Monitoring of quality in primary care 

Joint committees 

The CCG has agreed this year to establish a joint committee with CCGs across Durham, 

Darlington and Tees in order to progress the Better Health Programme. This committee 

has not yet met.  

 Collaborative working arrangements have been developed with a number of other CCGs, 

including joint arrangements with the CCGs in the North of England to determine 

commissioning for health gain policies and to review and approve individual funding 

requests, including conducting an appeals process. These joint working arrangements do 

not represent formal joint committees and the CCG retains responsibility for making any 

relevant decisions in line with the scheme of reservation and delegation. 

Review and assessment of board effectiveness and assessment of compliance with 
the UK Corporate Governance Code (2012) 

In reviewing and assessing the effectiveness of the Governing Body, the guidance 

contained within The UK Corporate Code of Governance (2012) has been further 

developed into a Governing Body ‘self- assessment’ questionnaire. The guidance 
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contained within the code has enabled a detailed review of Governing Body effectiveness 

against the following criteria – leadership, effectiveness, accountability, remuneration and 

relations with stakeholders on a ‘comply or explain’ basis. This self- assessment was 

supported by a dedicated session for the Governing Body to review Governing Body 

compliance with the code. In particular, having reviewed the effectiveness of the CCG’s 

governance framework and arrangements in relation to The UK Corporate Code of 

Governance, I consider that the organisation complies with the principles and standards of 

best practice contained within the guidance on a ‘comply or explain’ basis. 

 
The Clinical Commissioning Group Risk Management Framework 
  

A Risk Management framework is in place which takes into account current guidance on 

risk management best practice and incorporates guidance provided by ISO 31000:2009 

(formerly AZ/NZ Standard 4360:2004) and the former National Patient Safety Agency in its 

approach to assessing risk. 

The Risk Management policy sets out the CCG’s approach to the assessment and 

management of clinical and non-clinical risk in fulfilment of our overall objective to 

commission high quality and safe services. This includes the processes and procedures 

adopted by the CCG to identify, assess and appropriately manage risks and the detailed 

roles and responsibilities for risk management. It provides guidance for the systematic and 

effective management of risk. Key elements of the Risk Management policy include: 

• a clear statement of Governing Body and individual accountability for delivery of the 

strategy; 

• clear principles, aims and objectives of the risk management process; 

• a clearly defined process for delivering the framework including an implementation 

plan to ensure that the framework and risk management awareness is 

communicated to all staff; 

• details of the approach to be undertaken to assess and report risk; 

• an agreed process for reporting, managing, analysing and learning from adverse 

events supported by a “fair blame” culture and approach; 

• confirmation of the arrangements for reporting risk through the risk register. 

 Our comprehensive approach to risk management employs best practice in 

compliance with accepted standards. It is consistent with NHS England’s risk 

management strategy and risk management policy and procedure issued in July 
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2013. It takes into account current guidance on risk management best practice and 

incorporates guidance provided by ISO 31000:2009 (formerly AZ/NZ Standard 

4360:2004) and the former National Patient Safety Agency in its approach to 

assessing risk. 

Our risk management framework is the systematic application of management policies, 

procedures and practices to the tasks of identifying, monitoring, mitigating and managing 

risk. All CCG risks are recorded and managed in the electronic Safeguard Incident Risk 

Management System (SIRMS). North of England Commissioning Support Unit provides 

our risk reporting and management via SIRMS. Additionally, the CCG assurance 

framework enables the Executive Committee, Governance, Audit and Risk Committee and 

the Governing Body to ensure effective arrangements are in place for the management of 

risks to principal strategic objectives and for the sound governance of the organisation. 

Our approach to risk management ensures: 

• risk management is a cohesive element of the internal control systems within the 

corporate governance framework supported by robust risk management systems 

and processes, 

• the organisation meets statutory obligations including those relating to health and 

safety and data protection, 

• all stakeholders, staff and partner organisations are assured that the CCG is 

committed to managing risk appropriately, 

• staff can access support and risk management training and development is 

provided across the organisation by the NECS governance team, 

• updates and guidance reviews are communicated to all staff. 

 

 Our Counter Fraud activity plays a key part in deterring risks to the organisation’s 

financial viability and probity. An annual Counter Fraud Plan is agreed by the Governance, 

Audit and Risk Committee which focuses on the deterrence, prevention, detection and 

investigation of fraud. 

Counter-fraud requirements and regulations have been specifically discussed with both the 

Governing Body and wider CCG employees during the year to cement their knowledge 

and understanding of counter-fraud arrangements, with all employees also required to 

complete e-learning training. In addition, notifications and briefings regarding actual and 
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potential fraud are circulated to key staff to ensure counter-fraud vigilance is maintained 

and enable payment systems to be reviewed for emerging risks. 

5.1 Risk Assessment  
As Accountable Officer I have overall responsibility for: 

• ensuring the implementation of an effective risk management strategy, including 

effective risk management systems and internal controls; 

• the development of the corporate governance and assurance framework; 

• meeting all the statutory requirements and ensuring positive performance towards 

our strategic objectives. 

Each of the directors of the CCG is responsible for: 

• co-ordinating operational risk in their specific areas in accordance with the Risk 

Management Strategy; 

• ensuring that all areas of risk are assessed appropriately and action taken to 

implement improvements; 

• ensuring that staff under their management are aware of their risk management 

responsibilities in relation to the Risk Management Strategy; 

• incorporating risk management as a management technique within the performance 

management arrangements for the organisation. 

Risk is identified and embedded in the organisation via a number of mechanisms including 

a comprehensive risk register which identifies current and prospective risks to the 

organisation.  As highlighted above, the risk register incorporates the full comprehensive 

list of all risks facing the organisation at an operational and strategic level, across the five 

areas of delivery, development and transition, finance, performance and quality. 

The risk register captures details of the assessment of each risk in terms of consequence 

and likelihood to produce an overall risk score, together with the mitigating action then 

being taken to manage those risks. 

Each risk is assigned to a responsible director, who maintains overall responsibility for the 

risk, with each risk also aligned to a Governing Body committee based on the respective 

delivery area. Finance and performance risks are aligned to the Governance, Audit and 

Risk Committee, with delivery and development and transition risks being aligned to the 

Executive Committee. 
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All risks are reviewed on a monthly basis by the respective aligned committee to ensure 

that risks are appropriately assessed and that where required action is being taken, with 

the Executive Committee and Governing Body performing an overall review of all risks. 

Risks identified as having the potential to significantly impact on CCG corporate objectives 

are escalated and specifically reviewed by the Governing Body.; 

The Governance, Audit and Risk Committee ensures the CCG adheres to a robust risk 

management assessment process. Active steps are taken to ensure that it is regularly 

updated. In addition, all CCG policies and reports are assessed for equality impact. The 

CCG also takes measures to secure and take account of the views of its stakeholders, 

including: 

•  Patient and the Public: The Governing Body meets in public, receiving a report 

from its lay member that champions Patient and Public Involvement, through its 

Community Council, Commissioner Visits, regular involvement with the work of the 

Health and Partnerships Scrutiny Committee, Health and Wellbeing Board, 

consultations with local people on service change and improvements and 

commitment to its Patient Charter 

•  Members and Staff: Personal Objectives/Personal Development Plans linked to 

CCGs operational and strategic priorities, Members Assembly, regular surveys, 

supporting Protected Learning Time 

• Other Stakeholders: Working with other partners through Health and Wellbeing 

Board, Clinical Quality Review Groups and the quarterly Assurance and Performance 

meetings with NHS England 
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The process for identifying and assessing risks within the CCG has remained unchanged 

throughout the year; see diagram 1 below for the CCG risk process. 

 

Risks have continued to be reviewed and managed during the year with a number of new 

risks identified during the year, together with risks closed as mitigating action is completed 

and issues are resolved.  Details of all of the risks that have faced the CCG during the 

year can be found in the monthly Governing Body reports which are available on the 

CCG’s website. 
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Current risks 

Table 1 shows the current risk profile and table 2 summarises the current significant 

corporate red risks facing the CCG as at March 2016. 

  

Table 2 CCG corporate red risk summary 

Risk Description 
Premises Costs CCG experiences higher than planned premises costs due to 

current arrangements for funding void space following the 
relocation of services - under current NHS England guidance 
CCG is responsible for paying NHS Property Services for void 
space 

Acute Hospital Activity 
Levels and Cost 

Acute hospital activity exceeds planned levels in 2015/16 
leading to a significant cost pressure for the CCG 
 

A&E Handovers The CCGs main provider continues to be a regional outlier in 
respect of A&E handover delays causing delay in clinical 
assessment and treatment of patients and detaining ambulance 
crews in A&E departments 

 

Future Risks 
The current pressures on the health service are substantial, in particular the increasing 

demands of an ageing and growing population must be met from constrained financial 

resources. This will increase the pressure on current services and potential risks around 

delivery of performance targets whilst maintaining quality and ensuring services are safe, 

within available financial resources. The introduction of the Better Care Fund in 2015/16, a 

single pooled budget across the CCG and local authority, designed to enable 

transformation in integrated health and social care, will require substantial change in the 

way services are delivered with an unprecedented shift in activity required away from 

hospital into community settings. 

The CCG has agreed a two-year operational plan, incorporating the Better Care Fund, with 

a five-year strategic plan in development, all supported by a financial plan. These plans 

Domain Red Amber Yellow Green Total

Domain 1 - Well Led Organisation 0 1 2 0 3
Domain 2 - Delegated Functions 0 4 1 0 5
Domain 3 - Finance 2 8 5 0 15
Domain 4 - Performance 1 1 1 0 3
Domain 5 - Planning 0 3 1 0 4

Total 3 17 10 0 30
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demonstrate how these pressures will be managed to enable continued achievement of a 

balanced financial position whilst also delivering on the strategic aims of the CCG. The 

impact of the Better Care Fund in particular represents a significant challenge. The 

implementation of these plans and the schemes designed to take activity out of hospital, 

will require close monitoring to ensure progress is made in advance of 2016/17. 

 

6. The Clinical Commissioning Group Internal Control Framework 
 
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the clinical 

commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives.  It is designed 

to identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised 

and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and 

economically. The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable 

level rather than eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not 

absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control has been in place in 

the CCG for the year ended 31 March 2016 and up to the date of approval of the Annual 

Report and Accounts. 

The CCG’s system of internal control includes the governance framework and 

arrangements highlighted in section 4 above, with the Scheme of Reservation and 

Delegation, Standing Financial Instructions and supporting financial and operational 

policies.  The Governance, Audit and Risk Committee plays a key role in reviewing the 

adequacy of the internal control framework and providing assurance to the Governing 

Body on the effectiveness of internal control arrangements. 

 

This includes, but is not limited to, reviewing the work of internal audit who evaluate the 

effectiveness of the design and operation of the CCG’s system of internal control. 

 
6.2 Information Governance 
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by 

which the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal 

identifiable information.  The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by an 

information governance toolkit and the annual submission process provides assurances to 

the clinical commissioning group, other organisations and to individuals that personal 

information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively. 
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The CCG has an Information Governance Framework in place comprising an approved 

strategy, a suite of approved policies and procedures, a programme of mandatory training, 

an Information Governance Handbook for staff, information risk management, incident 

management and has also adopted and implemented the Health and Social Care 

Information Centre’s (HSCIC)  Checklist Guidance for Reporting, Managing and 

Investigating Information Governance and Cyber Security Serious Incidents Requiring 

Investigation. 

 

  The organisation has in place a standard operating procedure for the reporting of level 

2 Information Governance incidents to the Information Commissioner. This procedure 

outlines the scope of responsibilities and details the reporting procedures to be used in the 

event of a data security breach. There have been no Information Governance serious 

breaches during 2015/16. 

  The Information Governance agenda is reviewed by the Governance, Audit and Risk 

Committee which also oversees the day-to-day management of IG systems and 

processes. The CCG has also appointed a Caldicott Guardian (Diane Murphy) and Senior 

Information Risk Owner (Lisa Tempest). 

  The Information Governance Toolkit has been provided by the HSCIC to support 

performance monitoring of progress on Information Governance in the NHS. The CCG has 

published the HSCIC Information Governance Toolkit Version 13 and has self-assessed 

as being satisfactory. In accordance with the agreed internal audit plan for 2015/16 an 

audit of the Information Governance Toolkit self-assessment was undertaken, the scope of 

which was to provide ongoing assurance that the processes for determining scores against 

individual requirements was adequate. The audit concluded that significant assurance 

could be provided against the controls in place.   

  The CCG complies with its statutory duty to respond to requests for information. During the 

year, the CCG received 258 requests under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and no 

requests under the Data Protection Act 1998. All the requests were responded to within 

the statutory timescales. 
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6.3 Pension Obligations 
  As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, control 

measures are in place to ensure all employer obligations contained within the scheme 

regulations are complied with. This includes ensuring that deductions from salary, 

employer’s contributions and payments into the scheme are in accordance with the 

scheme rules, and that member Pension Scheme records are accurately updated in 

accordance with the timescales detailed in the regulations. 

 
6.4 Equality, Diversity and Human Rights 

 Control measures are in place to ensure that all the CCG complies with the required public 

sector equality duty set out in the Equality Act 2010. 

6.5.  Sustainable Development Obligations 
 The CCG is required to report its progress in delivering against sustainable development 

indicators. We are developing plans to assess risks, enhance our performance and reduce 

our impact, including against carbon reduction and climate change adaptation objectives. 

This includes establishing mechanisms to embed social and environmental sustainability 

across policy development, business planning and in commissioning. We will ensure the 

CCG complies with its obligations under the Climate Change Act 2008, including the 

Adaptation Reporting power, and the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012. We are also 

setting out our commitments as a socially responsible employer. 

6.6 Review of economy, efficiency & effectiveness of the use of resources 
The CCG has well developed systems and processes in place for managing its resources.  

Robust financial governance arrangements have been maintained throughout the year, 

including the Standing Orders, Scheme of Reservation and Delegation, and Prime 

Financial Policies incorporated within the CCG Constitution, supplemented by the CCG’s 

Standing Financial Instructions and detailed financial limits, all of which provide the 

framework through which the CCG discharges its business. This is supported by 

comprehensive and well established systems of internal control which help to govern the 

effective use of resources. 

Annual budgets were set by the CCG prior to the start of the financial year, based on the 

medium term financial plan, which set the basis on which resources will be utilised. The 

strategic and operational planning process incorporates a review and prioritisation of 

commissioning intentions and investment decisions to enable the most effective and 

efficient use of available resource. Annual budgets, and the longer term financial plans, 
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are reviewed and approved by the Governing Body.  This includes plans to deliver against 

the Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) agenda. 

Both the Executive Committee, Finance Committee and Quality, Performance and 

Innovation Committee play a key role in managing performance and delivery against 

financial plans, ensuring appropriate action is taken to address any issues as required and 

providing assurance to the Governing Body that resources are being utilised in line with 

plans, and that expected outcomes are being delivered.  In addition, monthly reports are 

also reviewed by the Governing Body, showing performance against budgets and financial 

targets, including the QIPP plan.  

The Governance, Audit and Risk Committee also plays a key role in providing assurance 

to the Governing Body in relation to financial governance arrangements and the 

effectiveness of systems and processes of internal control. A significant component of this 

assurance is the work of the CCG’s internal and external auditors. 

Specifically, as part of their annual audit, the CCG’s external auditors are required to 

satisfy themselves that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, 

efficiency and effectiveness in the use of its resources. They do this by examining 

documentary evidence and through discussions with senior managers. Their audit work is 

made available to and reviewed by the Governance, Audit and Risk Committee. Although 

the work of the external auditors does not form part of the CCG’s internal control 

environment, their conclusions in respect of this use of resources work provides further 

assurance that the processes implemented by the CCG are robust. 

  The CCG also makes use of benchmarking information produced both nationally and 

locally to enable comparison of expenditure and patient   outcomes against its peers. This 

benchmarking is a key element of all commissioning processes to help determine value for 

money for new services and pathways. 

6.7 Feedback from delegation chains regarding business, use of resources and 
responses to risk 
The CCG has a Risk Management Policy in place and a process by which all risks are 
assigned to one of the formal CCG committees (Executive, Finance and Performance or 
Quality and Innovation) who actively monitor and manage their own risk register. 
The Governance, Audit and Risk committee is responsible for the overall CCG register and 
therefore all committees are required to report into the GAR committee on a bi-monthly 
basis.  Any exceptions from the CCG risk register (risks with a score over 15) are reported 
to the Governing Body on a quarterly basis. 
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The CCG has an annual internal audit plan which is developed by the Governance, Audit 
and Risk committee which is updated as to the outcome of audits including assurance 
levels and recommendations at each meeting. 
 
7. Review of the effectiveness of Governance, Risk Management & Internal 
Control 
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system 

of internal control within the clinical commissioning group. 

7.1 Capacity to Handle Risk  
 
As Accountable Officer I have overall responsibility for: 
• ensuring the implementation of an effective Risk Management Policy, including 

effective risk management systems and internal controls; 

• the development of the corporate governance and assurance framework; 

• meeting all the statutory requirements and ensuring positive performance towards our 

strategic objectives. 

Each of the Executive Committee members of the CCG are responsible for: 

• co-ordinating operational risk in their specific areas in accordance with the Risk 

Management Framework; 

• ensuring that all areas of risk are assessed appropriately and action taken to 

implement improvements; 

• ensuring that staff under their management are aware of their risk management 

responsibilities in relation to the Risk Management Framework; 

• incorporating risk management as a management technique within the performance 

management arrangements for the organisation. 

All managers within the CCG are responsible for implementing the risk management 

policy within their span of control and for ensuring that staff understand and apply the 

relevant policy and strategy in relation to risk management. All staff within the CCG are 

responsible for assisting in the implementation of the Risk Management Framework 

and for highlighting any areas of risk through the incident reporting procedures, a 

principal means through which the CCG manages risk and learns lessons. 

 
7.2 Review of Effectiveness 
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system 

of internal control. My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is 

informed by the work of the internal auditors and the executive managers and clinical 
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leads within the CCG who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the 

internal control framework. I have drawn on performance information available to me. My 

review is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their management 

letter and other reports. I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review 

of the effectiveness of the system of internal control by the Governing Body, Executive 

Committee, the Governance, Audit and Risk Committee, and a plan to address 

weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place. 

The Assurance Framework itself provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of 

controls that manage risks to the CCG achieving its principal objectives have been 

reviewed. 

As part of the CCG’s risk management processes, an Assurance Framework has been in 

place throughout the year which provides a simple yet comprehensive method for the 

effective and focused management of the principal risks and assurances to meeting and 

delivering the CCG’s objectives. The Assurance Framework reflects the principal risks 

associated with the delivery of the CCG’s strategic objectives. This includes risks around 

the delivery of the CCG’s strategic aims, financial stability including QIPP delivery, and 

development of effective corporate governance and risk management. 

The Assurance Framework details with the key controls and assurances in place against 

each risk, together with any relevant action being taken to address gaps in controls and 

assurances where required. This is supplemented by detailed risk registers that record the 

full comprehensive list of all risks facing the CCG at an operational and strategic level 

across the five areas of delivery, development and transition, finance, performance and 

quality. 

As highlighted above, the Governance, Audit and Risk Committee plays a key role in 

providing assurance to the Governing body on the effectiveness of the systems of internal 

control and governance arrangements operated by the CCG. As part of this the work of 

both internal and external audit and other sources of assurance are considered. No 

significant internal control issues have been identified from the work of the Governance, 

Audit and Risk Committee. 

 

7.3 Head of Internal Audit Opinion 
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical 

commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective 

opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning group’s system of 
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risk management, governance and internal control. The Head of Internal Audit concluded 

that: 

The Head of Internal Audit Opinion 
 
The purpose of our annual HoIA Opinion is to contribute to the assurances available to the 
Accountable Officer and the Governing Body which underpin the Accountable Officer’s 
own assessment of the effectiveness of the organisation’s system of internal control. This 
opinion will, in turn, assist the Accountable Officer in the completion of the Annual 
Governance Statement. 
 
Our opinion is set out as follows: 
 
1. Overall opinion; 
2. Basis for the opinion; 
3. Commentary. 
 
Our overall opinion is that Significant Assurance can be given that there is a generally 
sound system of internal control, designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that 
controls are generally being applied consistently. However, some weakness in the design 
and inconsistent application of controls put the achievement of particular objectives at risk.  
 
The basis for forming our opinion is as follows: 
 

1. An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Assurance 
Framework and supporting processes;  
  
2. An assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from risk based audit 

assignments, contained within internal audit risk-based plans that have been 
reported throughout the year. This assessment has taken account of the relative 
materiality of these areas and management’s progress in respect of addressing 
control weaknesses; 
 

3. Any reliance that is being placed upon third party assurances. 
 

The commentary below provides the context for our opinion and, together with the 
opinion, should be read in its entirety. 
 
The design and operation of the Assurance Framework and associated processes 

 
The CCG assurance framework was reviewed and updated during the year, and has been 
presented and reviewed regularly at the Governance, Audit and Risk Committee. Although 
the CCG did not take part in our benchmarking exercise we have shared the results, and 
the CCG has undertaken a comparison against the outcomes to ensure that the BAF 
remains relevant and up to date.  Our review of the CCG’s governance and risk 
management arrangements identified no issues of concern and was assigned ‘significant 
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assurance’. On this basis we are content that the Board Assurance Framework provides a 
reasonable basis to support the CCG’s Annual Governance Statement. 

  
The range of individual opinions arising from risk-based audit assignments, contained 
within risk-based plans that have been reported during the year 

 
During the year 2015/16 we have undertaken our work in accordance with the Internal 
Audit annual plan. Throughout the year we have reported our findings to the Chief Finance 
Officer and Interim Accountable Officer (and other Executive colleagues where applicable). 
Our internal audit progress reports to the Governance, Audit & Risk Committee have set 
out the areas covered by internal audit work during the year, our results and matters 
arising.  

 
The majority of this work would indicate that significant assurance opinions have, or will be 
assigned to the majority of the CCG’s systems and processes. The CCG should review 
our findings in order to satisfy itself that any significant control issues have been 
recognised and appropriately disclosed in its Governance Statement.   

 
At the time of compiling this report a number of draft reports had been completed or issued 
to management, and are being progressed in accordance with the Internal Audit Protocol.  
These draft reports have been considered as part of the Head of Internal Audit Opinion 
and are shown in Appendix 1 of our annual report. Assignments in progress and where the 
audit field work has been satisfactorily completed have also been considered as part of 
this process. 

 
By way of commentary it should also be noted that there have been no ‘no assurance’ final 
reports issued for 2015/16. 

 
In undertaking our duties we have identified some weaknesses in the design or 
effectiveness of controls in certain systems. We have reported these issues during the 
year, and post the year end, and have specifically brought these to the Accountable 
Officer’s attention for potential disclosure within the Annual Governance Statement. 

Third party assurances 
 

As a result of the support service arrangements provided by NECS under a signed service 
level agreement, the CCG received the following assurance reports covering the 1st April 
2015 to 31st March 2016. 

 
• Two reports on Internal Controls Type II (Finance Controls) – for the periods April 2015 

to September 2015 and October 2015 to February 2016.  
• A bridging letter for Internal Controls Type II (Finance Controls) for March 2016. 
• Report on Internal Controls Type II (Information Technology) – 1 October 2014 to 30 

September 2015. 
 

The outcomes of these reports are noted below: 



 

Page 91 of 104 
 

 
Internal Controls Type II (Finance Controls) – for the periods 1 April 2015 to 30 September 
2015 and 1 October 2015 to 29 February 2016 
 
In relation to those services provided to the CCG by NECS, this report by Deloitte covered 
the financial controls relating to key control objectives in Accounts Payable, Accounts 
Receivable, Treasury and Cash Management, Financial Ledger, Financial Reporting and 
Payroll. The Deloitte audit opinion was a qualified one, and with the exception of noted 
weaknesses the report provides reasonable assurance that the specified control objectives 
would be achieved if the described controls operated effectively throughout the period. 
  
Internal Controls Type II (Finance Controls) – period 1 March 2016 to 31 March 2016 – 
Bridging letter 
 
This letter, provided by NECS, confirms that there have been no material changes in 
control environment and procedures operated by NECS during the period 1 March 2016 to 
31 March 2016 that would adversely affect the recently issued Service Auditors Opinion, 
and they have indicated that it should be read in conjunction with the Deloitte report for the 
period 1 October 2015 to 29 February 2016.    
 
Report on Internal Controls Type II (Information Technology) – period 1 October 2014 to 
30 September 2015 
   
In relation to those services provided to the CCG by NECS, this report by Deloitte covered 
the Information Technology systems relating to key control objectives in Business 
Information Quality, Information Technology and Information Governance. The Deloitte 
audit opinion was a qualified one, and with the exception of the noted weaknesses, the 
report provides reasonable assurance that the specified control objectives would be 
achieved if the described controls operated effectively throughout the period. 

 
An assurance letter was also received from Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation 
Trust on 3 May 2016 which provided significant assurance with no issues of note on the 
payroll processes that are undertaken on behalf of the CCG. 
 
In forming our overall opinion we have only taken into account these outcomes, and where 
they specifically relate to the financial year 2015/16. We have therefore not taken into 
account any unpublished reports, or for systems provided by third parties where no 
assurance has been provided for the financial year. The CCG will need to consider the 
significance of the lack of assurance from its service provider in respect of these areas as 
part of its Annual Governance Statement. 
 
 
Managing Director 
Audit North 
May 2016 
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During the year, Internal Audit issued the following audit reports which identified 

governance, risk management and/or control issues which were significant to the 

organisation: 

7.4 Data Quality 
NECS Data Management service have processes and systems in place to assess the 

quality and completeness of data managed on behalf of the CCG. Data is checked at all 

stages of processing through CSU systems and finally on publication of reports/analysis. 

Data is compared against historic and planned levels to provide assurance on 

completeness as well as with peer organisations in the form of benchmarking analysis. 

Processes are in place to raise any data quality issues with providers on a monthly basis – 

feedback from these challenges is utilised to alter any processing routines as required. 

The CCG utilises contract levers where necessary to ensure high quality data is captured 

at source and to minimise any updating of data once received by commissioners. 

Reconciliation accounts for each contract highlight any discrepancies between provider 

and commissioner data that are then investigated and resolved. 

Significant validations steps are in place in all routine data processing tasks to ensure poor 

quality data is not made available for analysis and then subsequently used as the basis for 

commissioning decisions. 

7.5 Business Critical Models 
The CCG is aware of the quality assurance requirements in respect of business critical 

models contained within the recommendations in the MacPherson report and I consider 

that appropriate arrangements are in place to provide sufficient quality assurance. 

Business critical models identified, together with information relating to the quality 

assurance processes for those models, will be provided to the Analytical Oversight 

Committee chaired by the Chief Analyst in the Department of Health, as appropriate. 

7.6 Data Security 
The CCG has published the HSCIC Information Governance Toolkit and has self-

assessed as being level 2 overall compliant, which confirms the organisation’s rating as 

overall ‘satisfactory’ in this regard. In accordance with the agreed internal audit plan for 

2015/16, an audit of the Information Governance Toolkit self-assessment was undertaken, 

the scope of which was to provide ongoing assurance that the processes for determining 

scores against individual requirements was adequate. 

There have been no data security breaches identified in 2014/15 and no Serious Untoward 

Incidents relating to data security.  
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NECS, as the provider of IT services to the CCG, has a range of controls in place.  Control 

objectives include: physical access, logical access, segregation of duties, data 

transmissions, data centre environmental controls, IT processing, data integrity and 

backups, change management procedures, network security measures, problem and 

incident resolution, system recovery and disaster recovery plans.  Assurance is provided 

to the CCG on the effectiveness of these controls through the AAF01/06 (service auditor) 

report that Deloitte will produce for the CCG to inform this. The CCG has now received the 

AAF Report which shows that all IT controls described above are ‘operating effectively’.  

 
7.7 Discharge of Statutory Functions 
Arrangements put in place by the CCG and explained within the Corporate Governance 

Framework were developed with extensive expert external legal input, to ensure 

compliance with all relevant legislation. That legal advice also informed the matters 

reserved for Membership Body and Governing Body decision and the scheme of 

delegation. 

In light of the Harris Review, the CCG has reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers 

conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other 

associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I can confirm that the CCG is clear 

about the legislative requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for which 

it is responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those functions. 

Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director. 

Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and 

capacity to undertake all of the CCGs statutory duties. 

7.8 Conclusion 
No significant internal control issues have been identified. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ali Wilson 

Accountable Officer, NHS Darlington CCG 

26th May 2016  

3.2 Remuneration and staff report  
 
Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee (not subject to audit) 
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The Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee was established to advise the 
Governing Body about pay and other benefits and terms of employment for the Chief 
Officer and other senior staff.  
The committee comprised: 
 

• Andrea Jones, CCG Chair and Chair of Remuneration and Terms of Service 
Committee 

• Michelle Thompson, Lay Member 
• John Flook, Lay Member 
• Andie Mackay, Lay Member 
• Angela Galloway, Secondary Care Doctor 

 
Further detail of membership of the committee and attendance at meetings is included in 
the Governing Body and Committee Members section of this report. 
 
The policy of the Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee on the remuneration of 
senior managers is to adopt Department of Health guidance on all aspects of senior 
managers pay. There were no variations to this policy in 2015/16 and the remuneration for 
senior managers during the financial year was determined in accordance with national 
policy. 
 
Senior Management Service Contracts (not subject to audit) 
All CCG senior managers hold permanent contracts which have no end date or unexpired 
term. In the event of termination, in line with employment legislation, the only liabilities 
would be for notice pay and, if applicable, redundancy pay. For the CCG senior managers 
listed below redundancy pay would be one months' salary for each complete year of NHS 
service up to a maximum of 24.  
 

• Andrea Jones, CCG Chair  
• Martin Phillips, Chief Officer 
• Lisa Tempest, Chief Finance Officer 
• Jackie Kay, Assistant Chief Officer 

 
 
Alison Wilson has held the role of Interim Accountable Officer for Darlington CCG since 
May 2015 due to the long term sickness absence of the substantive Accountable Officer 
Martin Phillips. 
 
Gill Findlay was seconded to the post of Chief Nurse for Darlington CCG from April 2014 
to May 2015 on a part time basis from Durham Dales and Easington CCG where she is 
employed as Director of Nursing.  
 
Diane Murphy was seconded to the post of Chief Nurse for Darlington CCG from June 
2015 to March 2016 on a part time basis from County Durham and Darlington NHS 
Foundation Trust. 
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Notice periods for the CCG senior managers are as below:  
 

• Andrea Jones, CCG Chair – Six months; 
• Martin Phillips, Chief Officer – Six months; 
• Lisa Tempest, Chief Finance Officer – Six months; 
• Jackie Kay, Assistant Chief Officer – 12 weeks. 

 
 
For the purpose of this remuneration report, the definition of ‘senior managers’ is as per 
the Manual for Accounts 2015/16 published by the Department of Health: 
 
Those persons in senior positions having authority or responsibility for directing or 
controlling the major activities of the NHS body.  This means those who influence the 
decisions of the entity as a whole rather than the decisions of individual directorates or 
departments. 
 
It is considered that the Governing Body members represent the senior managers of the 
CCG.  
 
Details of the relevant salaries and allowances for all of the senior managers of the CCG 
can be found in the tables below, both for 2015/16 and also relevant comparative figures 
for 2014/15. 
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Darlington CCG Senior Officers Salaries and Allowances 2015/16: (subject to audit) 

 
*includes pension related benefits across all employers 

 
Note: Ali Wilson who is employed by NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG covered the Accountable Officer post during 2015/6. A payment of 
£28k was made by Darlington CCG in respect of this.  
Gill Findley was employed by Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG on a shared post with Darlington CCG until 11th May 2015. Total value 
shown above is the recharge that was paid by the CCG. 
 
 
 
 
 

Salary and Fees
Expense Payments 

(taxable)

Performance 
Pay and 
Bonuses

Long-term 
Performance Pay 

and Related 
Bonuses

All Pension 
Related 
Benefits Total

(Bands of
(Rounded to the 

nearest (Bands of (Bands of (Bands of (Bands of
£5000) £00) £5,000) £5,000) £2,500) £5,000)

Name Position £000 £00 £000 £000 £000 £000
Dr Andrea Jones Chair 85 - 90 20 - 22.5 110-115
Martin Phillips Chief Officer 85 - 90 35 7.5 - 10 95 - 100
Lisa Tempest Chief Finance Officer 90 -95 35 - 37.5 125 - 130
Jackie Kay Assistant Chief Officer 80 - 85 3 2.5 - 5 85 - 90
Dr Richard Harker Quality Lead 25 - 30 25 - 30

Gill Findley 
Director of Nursing (Employed by DDES CCG and recharged 
50% of time from 1st April 2015 to 11th May 2015) 0 - 5 45 - 47.5* 50 - 55

Diane Murphy Director of Nursing (from 15th June 2015) 45 - 50 45 - 50

Angela Galloway Secondary Care Clinician 5 - 10 5 - 10
Michelle Thompson Lay Member 10 - 15 10 - 15

Andie Mackay Lay Member 5 - 10 5 - 10
John Flook Lay Member 10 - 15 10 - 15

2015/16
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Darlington CCG Senior Officers Salaries and Allowances Comparative Figures 2014/15:  
 

 

Salary & Fees Taxable Benefits

Annual 
Performance 

Related Bonuses

Long-term 
Performance 

Related Bonuses
All Pension 

Related Total

(Bands of
(Rounded to the 

nearest (Bands of (Bands of (Bands of (Bands of
£5000) £00) £5,000) £5,000) £2,500) £5,000)

Name Position £000 £00 £000 £000 £000 £000
 Andrea Jones Chair 85 -90 0 0 0 82.5 - 85 170 - 175
Martin Phillips Chief Officer 105 - 110 3.2 0 0 0 105 -110
Lisa Tempest Chief Finance Officer 85 - 90 0 0 0 12.5 - 15.00 95 -100
Jackie Kay Assistant Chief Officer 80 - 85 1.3 0 0 0 80 - 85
Richard Harker Quality Lead 25 - 30 0 0 0 0 25 - 30
Michelle Thompson Lay Member 10 -15 0 0 0 0 10 - 15
Andie Mackay Lay member 5 - 10 0 0 0 0 5 -10
John Flook Lay member 10 - 15 0 0 0 0 10 -15

Lucy Hansen
Secondary Care Doctor (1st April to 30th 
June 2014) 0 - 5 0 0 0 0 0 - 5

Gill Findley Director of Nursing 40 - 45 0 0 0 15 - 17.5 55 - 60

Angela Galloway Secondary Care Doctor (from 1st April 2014) 0 - 5 0 0 0 0 0 - 5

2014/15
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Payments for Loss of Office (subject to audit) 
No individual who was a senior manager in the current or in a previous financial year has 
received a payment for loss of office during the financial year 
 
Pay Multiples (subject to audit) 
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the 
highest-paid director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the 
organisation’s workforce. 
 
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director in Darlington CCG in the financial 
year 2015/16 was £90k - £95k (2014/15 £105k - £110k). This was 1.5 times higher 
(2014/15 1.9 times higher) than the median remuneration of the workforce which was 
£61,291 (2014/15 £55,279). For the purposes of identifying the highest paid director for 
this disclosure it is the cost to the CCG of an individual that is considered rather than the 
total of that individual’s remuneration. 
 
In 2015/16, no employees received remuneration in excess of the highest paid member of 
the Governing Body. Remuneration ranged from £10,000 to £136,500 (whole time 
equivalent). Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance related 
pay, benefits-in-kind. It does not include severance payments, employer pension 
contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions. 
 
The reduction in the ratio between the median remuneration and the highest paid director 
reflects the increase in the median remuneration figure and reduction in banded 
remuneration of the highest paid director due to sickness.  
 
There have been no other significant changes to remuneration of other staff within the 
CCG during the year.  Due to the small number of staff employed by the CCG, the median 
remuneration can be impacted by relatively small changes. 
 
Darlington CCG Senior Officers Pension Benefits 2015/16 (subject to audit) 

 
• Important Note regarding All Pension Related Benefits stated in the table below: 

Please note the amount included here is the annual increase in pension entitlement 
expected over twenty years. This value has been determined in accordance with the 
HMRC method of calculation, in accordance with guidance from NHS England. Employee 
pension contributions made in 2015/16 have been deducted from the total. Pension related 
benefits shown in the table above relate to the NHS pension scheme members only.  The 
figure shown is not intended to reflect annual remuneration received by the 
individual during the financial year. 
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Darlington Senior Officers Pension Benefits 2015/16 (subject to audit) 
 

 
 
Gill Findley is employed by NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG and 50% of costs recharged to NHS Darlington CCG

Real increase in 
pension at pension 

age

Real increase in 
pension lump sum at 

pension age

Total accrued 
pension at 

pension age at 31 
March 2016

Lump sum at pension 
age related to accrued 
pension at 31 March 

2016

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer Value 
at 1 April 2015

Real increase in 
Cash 

Equivalent 
Transfer Value

Cash Equivalent 
Transfer Value at 

31 March 2016

Employer's 
contribution to 

stakeholder 
pension

(bands of £2,500) (bands of £2,500) (bands of £5,000) (bands of £5,000)
Name Position £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £00
Dr Andrea Jones Chair 0 - 2.5 2.5 - 5 10 - 15 30 - 35 172 32 203 0
Martin Phillips Chief Officer 0 - 2.5 2.5 - 5 40 - 45 130 - 135 814 23 837 0
Lisa Tempest Chief Finance Officer 0 - 2.5 0 10 - 15 0 104 25 128 0
Jackie Kay Assistant Chief Officer 0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 25 - 30 85 - 90 549 18 567 0
Gill Findley Director of Nursing (Employed by 

DDES CCG and recharged 50% of 
time from 1st April to 11th May 2015) 0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 35 - 40 65 - 70 419 4 453 0

Diane Murphy Director of Nursing - from 15th June 
2015  (Employed by County Durham 
and Darlington FT) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Richard Harker Quality Lead 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Angella Galloway Secondare Care Doctor 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Michelle Thompson Lay Member 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Andie Mackay Lay Member 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
John Flook Lay Member 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
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Cash Equivalent Transfer Values (subject to audit) 
A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the 
pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time.  The benefits 
valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or other allowable 
beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme.  A CETV is a payment made by a 
pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or 
arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefit 
accrued in their former scheme.  The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the 
individual has accrued as a consequence of their membership of the pension scheme.  
This may be for more than just their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure 
applies (in which case this fact will be noted at the foot of the table). The CETV figures and 
the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or 
arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme.  They also 
include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their 
purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost.  CETVs 
are calculated in accordance with the Occupational Pension Schemes (Transfer Values) 
Regulations 2008.  
 
Real increase in Cash Equivalent Transfer Values (subject to audit) 
This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes account of 
the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee, 
(including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement) and 
uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period. 
 
Off-payroll Engagements (not subject to audit) 
Details of off-payroll engagements as of March 2016 for more than £220 per day and that 
last longer than six months are as below: 
 
The number that have existed  
For less than one year at the time of reporting 0 
For between one and two years at the time of reporting 0 
For between two and three years at the time of reporting 1 
For between three and four years at the time of reporting 0 
For four or more years at the time of reporting 0 
Total number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2016 1 
 
All existing off-payroll engagements, outlined above, have at some point been subject to a 
risk-based assessment as to whether assurance is required that the individual is paying 
the right amount of tax, and, where necessary, that assurance has been sought.  
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Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in 
duration, between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016 0 

Number of the above which include contractual clauses giving the 
clinical commissioning group the right to request assurance in relation 
to Income Tax and National Insurance obligations 

0 

Number for whom assurance has been requested 1 
Of which, the number: 
For whom assurance has been received 1 
For whom assurance has not been received 0 
That have been terminated as a result of assurance not being received 0 
 
The proportion of Governing Body members with off-payroll engagement arrangements is 
as below: 
 
Number of off-payroll engagement of Membership Body and/or 
Governing Body members, and/or, senior officials with significant 
financial responsibility, during the financial year 

1 

Number of individuals that have been deemed “Membership Body 
and/or Governing Body members, and/or, senior officials with 
significant financial responsibility”, during the financial year (this figure 
includes both off-payroll and on-payroll engagements) 

11 

 
This arrangement is for Dr Richard Harker, CCG Quality Lead, who is responsible for 
paying his own tax and national insurance contributions. The total value of payments is 
shown in the table on page 97. 
 
Performance (not subject to audit) 
Continuation of employment, under the senior managers’ contracts of employment is 
subject to satisfactory performance. Performance in post and progress in achieving set 
objectives is reviewed annually. There were no individual performance review payments 
made to senior managers during the year and there are no plans to make such payments 
in future years outside of the Very Senior Management Pay Framework. This is in 
accordance with standard NHS terms and conditions of service and guidance issued by 
the Department of Health. 
Contracts of employment, in relation to the Chief Officer and senior managers, are 
permanent in nature and subject to six months’ notice of termination by either party. 
Termination payments are limited to those laid down in statute and those provided for 
within NHS terms and conditions of service and under the NHS Pension Scheme 
Regulations for those who are members of the scheme. 
 
 
 
Ali Wilson 
Accountable Officer, NHS Darlington CCG 
26th May 2016 
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3.2.1 Staff report  
 
Our Staff 
As at 31st March 2015 the CCG has twelve employees, three lay members and one 
Secondary Care Clinician. Of the twelve employees, seven are employed in non-clinical 
roles including Finance, Commissioning and Administration, and five are general 
practitioners who provide clinical leadership to the CCGs commissioning activities and key 
focus areas including safeguarding and cancer. All staff are based at our office at Dr Piper 
House in Darlington. 
 
Staff Numbers 
Details of the average number of employees can be found in note 3.2 of the financial 
statements, this is subject to audit. 
 
 
Our Staff Gender Profiles 
The CCG staff gender profile is given in Table 1. This reflects our gender representation 
on the governing body, Very Senior Manager (VSM) staff and all CCG staff.   
 
Table 1: Darlington CCG Gender Profile  
 
 Female Male 

Governing Body 5 4 

VSM 1 1 

CCG Employees 9 3 
 

 
The CCG can demonstrate fair and equitable recruitment, workforce engagement and 
employment terms and conditions to ensure levels of pay and related terms and conditions 
are fairly determined for all posts, with staff doing equal work, and work rated as of equal 
value, being entitled to equal pay. 
 
Staff Sickness Absence 
The table below shows staff sickness absence figures for the 2014 and 2015 calendar 
years: 
 
 2015 2014 
Total Days Lost 213 35 
Total Staff Years 9 11 
Average working Days Lost 23.7 3.2 
 
The increase in 2015 is due to the long term sickness absence of one member of staff. 
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Policies 
As a legal entity the CCG is required as an employer to comply with the obligations 
imposed by employment law, and is committed to provide good working conditions and 
health and safety standards. In order to support this, the CCG and has an extensive suite 
of policies and procedures in place, all of which are reviewed on a regular basis to ensure 
continued compliance with legal and statutory requirements.   
 
Darlington CCG has a suite of HR policies developed and maintained by our HR provider 
in partnership with CCG management and trade unions. The policies cover the full range 
of HR issues including equality and diversity, recruitment and selection, training and career 
development and absence management.  This range of policies contributes to the system 
of internal control in the CCG and ensures compliance with employment legislation. 
Policies are reviewed and revised on a regular basis determined by their revision date. 
 
The Equality and Diversity Policy demonstrates the CCG’s commitment to ensuring 
equality of opportunity for all employees (including those with disabilities) and its 
commitment to ensuring that no employee, or potential employee, receives less favourable 
treatment on the grounds of gender, race, colour, ethnic or national origin, sexual 
orientation, marital status, religion or belief, age, trade union membership, disability, 
offending background, domestic circumstances, social and employment status, HIV status, 
gender reassignment, political affiliation or any other personal characteristic. Diversity is 
viewed positively and the unique contribution that each individual’s experience, knowledge 
and skills can make is valued equally. 
 
Consultancy 
During the financial year 2015/16 the CCG spent £6,650.00 on consultancy work. This 
relates to the undertaking of a diagnostic process and subsequent development of a plan 
for the CCG to improve engagement with member practices and other stakeholders. 
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4 Financial statements 
 
The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2016 can be found in appendix 1.   



Financial statements Appendix 1

Page Number

The Primary Statements:

Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2016 1
Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2016 2
Statement of Changes in Taxpayers' Equity for the year ended 31 March 2016 3
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 March 2016 4

Notes to the financial statements
Accounting policies 5
Other operating revenue 10
Employee benefits and staff numbers 11
Operating expenses 13
Better payment practice code 14
Income generation activities 14
Investment revenue 14
Other gains and losses 14
Finance costs 14
Operating leases 15
Trade and other receivables 16
Cash and cash equivalents 17
Trade and other payables 17
Provisions 17
Contingencies 17
Commitments 18
Financial instruments 18
Operating segments 19
Pooled budgets 19
Related party transactions 20
Events after the end of the reporting period 22
Losses and special payments 22
Financial performance targets 22

CONTENTS

NHS Darlington CCG Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2016



1

NHS Darlington CCG - Annual Accounts 2015/16

Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2016

2015/16 2014/15
Note £000 £000

Administration costs and programme expenditure
Gross employee benefits 3.1 660                   642           
Other costs 4 144,184            138,040    
Other operating revenue 2 (236)                  (219)          
Net operating costs before interest 144,608            138,463    

Investment Revenue 7 -                        -                
Other (gains)/losses 8 -                        -                
Finance costs 9 -                        -                
Net operating costs for the financial year 144,608            138,463    

Of which:
Administration costs
Gross employee benefits 3.1 479                   508           
Other costs 4 1,874                1,976        
Other operating revenue 2 -                        (3)              
Net administration costs before interest 2,353                2,481        

Programme Expenditure
Gross employee benefits 3.1 181                   134           
Other costs 4 142,310            136,064    
Other operating revenue 2 (236)                  (216)          
Net programme expenditure before interest 142,255            135,982    

Total comprehensive net expenditure for the year 144,608            138,463    
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NHS Darlington CCG - Annual Accounts 2015/16

Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2016

31 March 2016 31 March 2015
Note £000 £000

Current assets:
Trade and other receivables 11 2,285                 1,302                
Cash and cash equivalents 12 23                      39                     
Total current assets 2,308                 1,341                

Total assets 2,308                 1,341                

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 13 (10,859)              (8,797)               
Total current liabilities (10,859)              (8,797)               

Total assets less current liabilities (8,551)                (7,456)               

Financed by taxpayers’ equity
General fund (8,551)                (7,456)               
Total taxpayers' equity: (8,551)                (7,456)               

The notes on pages 5 to 22 of the Annual Report form part of this statement

Ali Wilson
Accountable Officer, NHS Darlington CCG
26th May 2016

The financial statements on pages 1 to 22 of the Annual Report were approved and authorised for issue by the Governing 
Body on  24th May 2016 and signed on its behalf by:
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NHS Darlington CCG - Annual Accounts 2015/16

Statement of Changes In Taxpayers' Equity for the year ended
31 March 2016

General fund
Total 

reserves
£000 £000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2015/16:

Balance at 1 April 2015 (7,456) (7,456)

Changes in CCG taxpayers’ equity for 2015/16
Net operating costs for the financial year (144,608) (144,608)

Net recognised CCG expenditure for the financial year (144,608) (144,608)

Net Parliamentary funding 143,513 143,513

Balance at 31 March 2016 (8,551) (8,551)

General fund
Total 

reserves
£000 £000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2014/15

Balance at 1 April 2014 (6,015) (6,015)

Changes in CCG taxpayers’ equity for 2014/15:
Net operating costs for the financial year (138,463) (138,463)

Net recognised CCG expenditure for the financial year (138,463) (138,463)

Net Parliamentary funding 137,022 137,022
Balance at 31 March 2015 (7,456) (7,456)
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NHS Darlington CCG - Annual Accounts 2015/16

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2016

2015/16 2014/15
Note £000 £000

Cash flows from operating activities
Net operating costs for the financial year (144,608)        (138,463)        
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 11 (983)               25                  
Increase in trade and other payables 13 2,062             1,324             
Net cash outflow from operating activities (143,529)        (137,114)        

Net cash outflow before financing (143,529)        (137,114)        

Cash flows from financing activities
Net funding received 143,513         137,022         
Net cash inflow from financing activities 143,513         137,022         

Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 12 (16)                 (92)                 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 39                  131                

Cash and cash equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the end of the financial year 23                  39                  
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NHS Darlington CCG - Annual Accounts 2015/16

Notes to the financial statements

1 Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of CCGs shall meet the accounting requirements of the 
Manual for Accounts issued by the Department of Health. Consequently, the following financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with the Manual for Accounts 2015-16 issued by the Department of Health. The 
accounting policies contained in the Manual for Accounts follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the 
extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to CCGs, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the 
Financial Reporting Advisory Board.  Where the Manual for Accounts permits a choice of accounting policy, the 
accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the CCG for the 
purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the CCG are 
described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the 
accounts.

1.1 Going Concern

These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.

Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the 
future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.

Where a CCG ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same 
assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set 
of financial statements.  If services will continue to be provided, the financial statements are prepared on the 
going concern basis.

1.2 Accounting Convention

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation 
of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3 Acquisitions & Discontinued Operations

Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ only if they are taken on from outside the public sector. Activities are 
considered to be ‘discontinued’ only if they cease entirely. They are not considered to be ‘discontinued’ if they 
transfer from one public sector body to another.

1.4 Movement of Assets within the Department of Health Group

Transfers as part of reorganisation fall to be accounted for by use of absorption accounting in line with the 
Government Financial Reporting Manual, issued by HM Treasury. The Government Financial Reporting Manual 
does not require retrospective adoption, so prior year transactions (which have been accounted for under merger 
accounting) have not been restated. Absorption accounting requires that entities account for their transactions in 
the period in which they took place, with no restatement of performance required when functions transfer within 
the public sector.  Where assets and liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and is disclosed separately from operating costs.

Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health Group are accounted for in line with IAS 
20 and similarly give rise to income and expenditure entries.
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NHS Darlington CCG - Annual Accounts 2015/16

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.5 Pooled Budgets

Where the CCG has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of the National Health Service 
Act 2006, the CCG accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the 
activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement.

If the CCG is in a “jointly controlled operation”, the CCG recognises:
•                the assets the CCG controls;
•                the liabilities the CCG incurs;
•                the expenses the CCG incurs; and,
•                the CCG’s share of the income from the pooled budget activities.

If the CCG is involved in a “jointly controlled assets” arrangement, in addition to the above, the CCG recognises:
•                the CCG’s share of the jointly controlled assets (classified according to the nature of the assets);
•                the CCG’s share of any liabilities incurred jointly; and,
•                the CCG’s share of the expenses jointly incurred.

1.6 Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the CCG’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are 
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates and underlying 
assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which 
the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if 
the revision affects both current and future periods.

1.6.1  Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management 
has made in the process of applying the CCG’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

•  determining whether income and expenditure should be disclosed as either administrative or programme 
expenditure; 
•  determining whether a substantial transfer of risks and rewards has occurred in relation to leased assets; and
•  determining whether a provision or contingent liability should be recognised in respect of certain potential future 
obligations, particularly in respect of continuing healthcare.

1.6.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the CCG’s 
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
•  the assumptions applied in the estimation of activity not yet invoiced, including partially completed treatment 
spells as at the Statement of Financial Position date;    
•  the estimate of potential future liabilities in respect of continuing healthcare services; and                             •  to 
estimate an accrual for two months of prescribing expenditure based on the ten months of actual charges 
received from the Prescription Pricing Division.

1.7  Revenue

Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is 
measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable.

Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is 
deferred.
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NHS Darlington CCG - Annual Accounts 2015/16

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.8 Employee Benefits

1.8.1 Short-term Employee Benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received 
from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken.

The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial 
statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

1.8.2 Retirement Benefit Costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an 
unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed 
under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a 
way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. 
Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the CCG of 
participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the 
scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the CCG 
commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.

1.9 Other Expenses

Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. 
They are measured at the fair value of the consideration payable.

Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the CCG has a present legal or constructive 
obligation, which occurs when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.

1.10 Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred 
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

1.10.1 The CCG as Lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease 
incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term.

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

1.11 Cash & Cash Equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more 
than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable 
on demand and that form an integral part of the CCG’s cash management.
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NHS Darlington CCG - Annual Accounts 2015/16

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.12 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the CCG has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that the CCG will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of 
the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure 
required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. 
Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the 
present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:

•                Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 1.55% (2014-15: minus 1.50%)
•                Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 1% (2014-15: minus 1.05%)
•                Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Minus 0.80% (2014-15: plus 2.20%)

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a 
third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received 
and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

A restructuring provision is recognised when the CCG has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring 
and has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement 
the plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision 
includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those amounts that are both 
necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with on-going activities of the entity.

1.13 Clinical Negligence Costs

The NHS Litigation Authority operates a risk pooling scheme under which the CCG pays an annual contribution to 
the NHS Litigation Authority which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to 
expenditure. Although the NHS Litigation Authority is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases 
the legal liability remains with the CCG.

1.14 Non-clinical Risk Pooling

The CCG participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk 
pooling schemes under which the CCG pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return, 
receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses 
payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.

1.15 Continuing healthcare risk pooling

In 2014/15, a risk pool scheme was been introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim 
periods prior to 31 March 2013.  Any claims after the 31 March 2013 are managed as part of the CCGs normal 
business.  Under the scheme, CCGs contribute annually to a pooled fund, which is used to settle the claims.

1.16 Contingencies

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed 
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of 
the CCG, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required 
to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent 
liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the CCG. A 
contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value.
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NHS Darlington CCG - Annual Accounts 2015/16

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.17 Financial Assets

Financial assets are recognised when the CCG becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of 
trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the 
contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred.

Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
•                Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;
•                Held to maturity investments;
•                Available for sale financial assets; and,
•                Loans and receivables.

The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial 
recognition.

All CCG assets have been classified as loans and receivables.

1.17.1 Loans & Receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not 
quoted in an active market. After initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, less any impairment.  Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.

Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where possible, otherwise by valuation techniques.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life 
of the financial asset, to the initial fair value of the financial asset.

At the end of the reporting period, the CCG assesses whether any financial assets, other than those held at ‘fair 
value through profit and loss’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses recognised if 
there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the 
asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in expenditure and the carrying amount of the asset is 
reduced through a provision for impairment of receivables.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is 
reversed through expenditure to the extent that the carrying amount of the receivable at the date of the impairment 
is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

1.18 Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised on the Statement of Financial Position when the CCG becomes party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services 
have been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the 
liability has been paid or has expired.

Loans from the Department of Health are recognised at historical cost. Otherwise, financial liabilities are initially 
recognised at fair value.

1.18.1 Other Financial Liabilities

After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, except for loans from the Department of Health, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net 
carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.
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1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.19 Value Added Tax

1.20 Losses & Special Payments

1.21 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted

2. Other Operating Revenue
2015/16 2015/16 2015/16 2014/15
Admin Programme Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Education, training and research -                     -                     -                     36                  
Non-patient care services to other bodies -                     236                236                183                
Total other operating revenue -                     236                236                219                

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or 
passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures 
compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are 
handled.

Most of the activities of the CCG are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is 
not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed 
assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

Programme revenue is revenue received that is directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.

Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into the bank account of the CCG and 
credited to the General Fund.

Revenue is totally from the supply of services. The CCG receives no revenue from the sale of goods.

•                IFRS 9: Financial Instruments

•                IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts

•                IFRS 15: Revenue for Contracts with Customers

The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2015-16, were they applied in that year.

The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2015-16, all of 
which are subject to consultation:

Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which 
would have been made good through insurance cover had the CCG not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being 
included as normal revenue expenditure).
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

3. Employee benefits and staff numbers

3.1 Employee benefits 2015/16

Total
Permanent 
Employees Other Total

Permanent 
Employees Other Total

Permanent 
Employees Other

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages 544               538                  6                   398               392               6                   146               146               -                    
Social security costs 48                 48                    -                    34                 34                 -                    14                 14                 -                    
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 68                 68                    -                    47                 47                 -                    21                 21                 -                    
Gross employee benefits expenditure 660               654                  6                   479               473               6                   181               181               -                    

No amounts were recovered in respect of employee benefits and no employee benefits were capitalised during the year (2014/15: none).

3.2 Average number of people employed
2014/15

Total
Permanently 

employed Other Total
Number Number Number Number

Total 12                 12                    -                    13                 

None of the above people were engaged on capital projects.

3.3  Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements
2015/16 2014/15
Number Number

Total Days Lost 213 35
Total Staff Years 9 11
Average working days lost 23.7 3.2

The staff sickness absence data for 2015/16 is based on the 12 months ended 31 December 2015.

No staff retired early on ill health grounds during the financial year (2014/15: none).

3.4 Exit packages agreed in the financial year

No exit packages have been agreed in the financial year

2015/16

Admin ProgrammeTotal
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

3. Employee benefits and staff numbers (continued)

3.5 Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. Details of the benefits payable under these 
provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/Pensions.

The Scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the 
direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The Scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies 
to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.

Therefore, the Scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the CCG of participating in the Scheme is 
taken as equal to the contributions payable to the Scheme for the accounting period.

The Scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years (until 2004, every five years) and an accounting valuation every year. 
An outline of these follows:

3.5.1 Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the Scheme (taking into account its 
recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates to be paid by employers and scheme members. The last such 
valuation, which determined current contribution rates was undertaken as at 31 March 2012 and covered the period from 1 April 2008 to 
that date. Details can be found on the pension scheme website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. 

For 2015/16, employers’ contributions of £68,416 (2014-15: £68,697) were payable to the NHS Pension Scheme at the rate of 14.3% of
pensionable pay. The scheme’s actuary reviews employer contributions, usually every four years and now based on HMT Valuation
Directions, following a full scheme valuation. The latest review used data from 31 March 2012 and was published on the Government
website on 9 June 2014. These costs are included in the NHS pension line of Note 3.1.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

4. Operating expenses
2015/16 2015/16 2015/16 2014/15

Admin Programme Total Total
£000 £000 £000 £000

Gross employee benefits
Employee benefits excluding governing body members 66                181              247              246              
Executive governing body members 413              -                   413              396              
Total gross employee benefits 479              181              660              642              

Other costs
Services from other CCGs and NHS England 1,378           814              2,192           1,790           
Services from foundation trusts 30                97,485         97,515         98,900         
Services from other NHS trusts -                   205              205              211              
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies -                   23,722         23,722         19,197         
Chair and Non Executive Members 162              -                   162              169              
Supplies and services – general 20                637              657              260              
Consultancy services 7                  -                   7                  13                
Establishment 12                5                  17                49                
Premises 171              292              463              161              
Audit fees 54                -                   54                72                
Other non statutory audit expenditure
·          Other services -                   -                   -                   1                  
Prescribing costs -                   18,097         18,097         16,867         
Pharmaceutical services -                   94                94                94                
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS -                   2                  2                  -                   
Other professional fees excl. audit 33                47                80                23                
Clinical negligence 3                  -                   3                  3                  
Education and training 4                  12                16                34                
CHC Risk Pool contributions -                   898              898              196              
Total other costs 1,874           142,310       144,184       138,040       

Total operating expenses 2,353           142,491       144,844       138,682       
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

5.1 Better Payment Practice Code

Measure of compliance 2015/16 2015/16 2014/15 2014/15
Number £000 Number £000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the year 6,767 23,762 4,908 22,030
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 6,637 23,310 4,716 21,391
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target 98.08% 98.10% 96.09% 97.10%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade invoices paid in the year 1,420 102,006 1,550 100,332
Total NHS Trade invoices paid within target 1,411 101,969 1,539 100,168
Percentage of NHS Trade invoices paid within target 99.37% 99.96% 99.29% 99.84%

5.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998

There were no payments made in respect of late payments of commercial debts in 2015/16 (2014/15: none).

6. Income Generation Activities

The CCG does not undertake any income generation activities (2014/15: none).

7. Investment revenue

There was no investment revenue in 2015/16 (2014/15: none).

8. Other (gains) and losses

There were no other (gains) and losses in 2015/16 (2014/15: none).

9. Finance costs

There were no finance costs in 2015/16 (2014/15: none).

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of 
a valid invoice, whichever is later.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

10. Operating Leases

10.1 As lessee

10.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense 2015/16 2015/16 2015/16 2014/15
Buildings Other Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000
Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments 450                  4                      454                  167         
Total 450                  4                      454                  167         

10.1.2 Future minimum lease payments 2015/16 2015/16 2015/16 2014/15
Buildings Other Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000
Payable:
No later than one year -                       2                      2                      4             
Between one and five years -                       -                       -                       2             
Total -                       2                      2                      6             

The CCG has entered into a small number of formal operating lease arrangements, relating to leased cars, none of which are 
individually significant.  Specific lease terms vary by individual arrangement but are based upon standard practice for the type of 
arrangement involved.

The CCG occupies property owned and managed by NHS Property Services Limited.  For 2014/15 and 2015/16, the charges from 
NHS Property Services Limited are intended to reflect the actual cost of occupancy, or void space, attributable to the CCG.  This 
is reflected in Note 10.1.1.  

While our arrangements with NHS Property Services Limited fall within the definition of operating leases, the rental charge for 
future years has not yet been agreed.  Consequently, this note does not include future minimum lease payments for these 
arrangements.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

11.  Trade and other receivables Current Non-current Current Non-current
31 March 2016 31 March 2016 31 March 2015 31 March 2015

£000 £000 £000 £000

NHS receivables: Revenue 317                    -                         220                    -                         
NHS prepayments 1,746                 -                         247                    -                         
NHS accrued income 45                      -                         416                    -                         
Non-NHS receivables: Revenue 107                    -                         380                    -                         
Non-NHS prepayments 16                      -                         9                        -                         
Non-NHS accrued income 50                      -                         -                         -                         
Provision for the impairment of receivables -                         -                         -                         -                         
VAT 3                        -                         30                      -                         
Other receivables 1                        -                         -                         -                         
Total Trade and other receivables 2,285                 -                         1,302                 -                         

Total current and non current 2,285 1,302

11.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired 31 March 2016 31 March 2015
£000 £000

By up to three months -                         -                         
By three to six months -                         -                         
By more than six months -                         -                         
Total -                         -                         

The CCG did not hold any collateral against receivables outstanding at 31 March 2016 (31 March 2015: none).

The great majority of trade is with other NHS bodies, including other CCGs as commissioners for NHS patient care services.  As CCGs 
are funded by Government to commission NHS patient care services, no credit scoring of them is considered necessary.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

12. Cash and cash equivalents

2015/16 2014/15
£000 £000

Balance at 1 April 39 131
Net change in year (16) (92)
Balance at 31 March 23 39

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service 23 39
Cash and cash equivalents as in Statement of Financial Position 23 39

Balance at 31 March 23 39

The CCG held £nil cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 2016 on behalf of patients (31 March 2015: £nil).

13. Trade and other payables
Current Non-current Current Non-current
2015/16 2015/16 2014/15 2014/15

£000 £000 £000 £000

NHS payables: revenue 2,634           -                  2,131           -                  
NHS accruals 1,152           -                  1,555           -                  
Non-NHS payables: revenue 2,899           -                  395              -                  
Non-NHS accruals 4,121           -                  4,674           -                  
Social security costs 7                  -                  6                  -                  
Tax 9                  -                  9                  -                  
Other payables 37                -                  27                -                  
Total Trade and Other Payables 10,859         -                  8,797           -                  

Total current and non-current 10,859         8,797           

Other payables include £12k in respect of outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2016 (31 March 2015: £10k).

14. Provisions

There were no provisions to recognise in the financial statements at 31 March 2016 (31 March 2015: none).

15. Contingencies

There were no contingent assets or liabilities at 31 March 2016 (31 March 2015: none).

At 31 March 2016, the CCG had no liabilities due in future years under arrangements to buy out the liability for early retirement 
over 5 years (31 March 2015: none).
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

16. Commitments

17. Financial instruments

17.1 Financial risk management

17.1.1 Currency risk

17.1.2 Interest rate risk

17.1.3 Credit risk

17.1.4 Liquidity risk

The CCG has no borrowings and has only limited powers to borrow funds from government for capital 
expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England. The CCG therefore has low exposure to 
interest rate fluctuations.

Because the majority of the CCG's revenue comes from parliamentary funding, the CCG has low exposure to 
credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as 
disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.

The CCG is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources 
voted annually by Parliament. The CCG draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The CCG 
is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during 
the period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.

As the CCG is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced 
by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than 
would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The CCG has 
limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-
day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the CCG in undertaking its 
activities.

Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined 
formally within the CCG's standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury 
activity is subject to review by the CCG's internal auditors.

The CCG is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities 
being in the UK and sterling based. The CCG has no overseas operations. The CCG therefore has low 
exposure to currency rate fluctuations.

There were no contracted or non-cancellable contracts entered into by the CCG at 31 March 2016 which are 
not otherwise included in these financial statements (31 March 2015: none).
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17. Financial instruments (continued)

17.2 Financial assets

Loans and 
Receivables Total

Loans and 
Receivables Total

2015/16 2015/16 2014/15 2014/15
£000 £000 £000 £000

Receivables:
·          NHS 362              362              636                636         
·          Non-NHS 157              157              410                410         
Cash at bank and in hand 23                23                39                  39           
Other financial assets 1                  1                  -                    -             
Total at 31 March 543              543              1,085             1,085      

17.3 Financial liabilities

Other Total Other Total
2015/16 2015/16 2014/15 2014/15

£000 £000 £000 £000
Payables:
·          NHS 3,786 3,786 3,686 3,686
·          Non-NHS 7,057 7,057 5,111 5,111
Total at 31 March 10,843 10,843 8,797 8,797

18. Operating segments

19. Pooled budgets

The CCG contribution to the pooled budget in 2015/16 was £8,138k which was used to commission a range of 
health and social care services in line with the agreed objectives of the Better Care Fund.  This contribution to 
the Better Care Fund is recognised within the financial statements as CCG expenditure.

No other pooled budget arrangements are in place and the CCG was not party to any pooled budget 
arrangements during 2014/15.

The CCG has considered the definition of an operating segment contained within IFRS 8 in determining its 
operating segments, in particular considering the internal reporting to the CCG's Governing Body, considered 
to be the 'chief operating decision maker' of the CCG, which was used for the purpose of resource allocation 
and assessment of performance.

All activity performed by the CCG relates to its role as a commissioner of healthcare for its relevant population.  
As a result, the CCG considers that it has only one operating segment, being the commissioning of healthcare 
services.

An analysis of both the income and expenditure and net assets relating to the segment can be found in the 
statement of comprehensive net expenditure and statement of financial position respectively.

The CCG entered into a pooled budget arrangement with Darlington Borough Council in respect of the Better 
Care Fund, with effect from 1 April 2015, through a section 75 agreement.  Details can be found on page 11 of 
the Annual Report.
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20. Related party transactions

CCG Governing Body member Related Party

Payments 
to Related 

Party

Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party

Amounts 
owed to 
Related 

Party

Amounts 
due from 

Related 
Party

£000 £000 £000 £000

M Phillips                                                                                                                                                                                                      
Chief Officer County Durham & Darlington NHS FT 71,138        -               1,755        (222)        

L Tempest
Chief Finance Officer North Tees & Hartlepool NHS FT 1,422          -               5               (58)          

A Wilson Academic Health Science Network 24               -               -               (14)          
Acting Accountable Officer NHS Hartlepool & Stockton on Tees CCG 35               -               -               -              

Dr R Harker                                   
Quality lead Whinfield Medical Practice 94               -               3               -              

M Thompson
Lay Member MacMillan Cancer Support -                  (1)             -               (13)          

A Galloway                                   St Cuthberts Hospice 158             (1)             -               (1)            
Secondary Care Clinician NHS North Durham CCG -                  -               501           (129)        

G Findley NHS North Durham CCG -                  -               501           (129)        
Lead CCG Nurse NHS Durham Dales, Easington & Sedgefield CCG -                  -               731           (186)        

M Rose
Director of Services for People (DBC) Darlington Borough Council 3,407          -               948           (87)          

M Davidson
Director of Public Health (DBC) Darlington Borough Council 3,407          -               948           (87)          

D Murphy
Director of Nursing County Durham & Darlington NHS FT 71,138        -               1,755        (222)        

During the year the CCG has undertaken transactions with the following CCG Governing Body members or members of the key management staff, 
or parties related to any of them:

All of these transactions were undertaken under standard terms and conditions in the normal course of business.
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20. Related party transactions (continued)

• NHS England;
• NHS Foundation Trusts;
• NHS Trusts;
• NHS Litigation Authority; and,
• NHS Business Services Authority.

2014/15 comparative figures:

CCG Governing Body member Related Party

Payments 
to Related 

Party

Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party

Amounts 
owed to 
Related 

Party

Amounts 
due from 

Related 
Party

£000 £000 £000 £000

M Phillips                                                                                                                                                                                                      
Chief Officer County Durham & Darlington NHS FT 71,984        (215)         2,685       (255)        

L Tempest
Chief Finance Officer North Tees & Hartlepool NHS FT 1,336          -               9              (3)            

Dr R Harker                                   Whinfield Medical Practice 91               -               3              -              
Quality lead St Theresa's Hospice 370             -               -               -              

M Thompson
Lay Member Healthwatch Darlington 10               -               -               -              

A Galloway                                   St Cuthberts Hospice 158             -               -               -              
Secondary Care Clinician NHS North Durham CCG 2                 (302)         223          -              

G Findley
Lead CCG Nurse NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG -                  (544)         350          (114)        

M Rose
Director of Services for People (DBC) Darlington Borough Council 1,196          (343)         140          (344)        

M Davidson
Director of Public Health (DBC) Darlington Borough Council 1,196          (343)         140          (344)        

Dr J Carlton
Salaried GP NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG -                  (544)         350          (114)        

All of these transactions were undertaken under standard terms and conditions in the normal course of business.

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the CCG has had a significant number of material transactions with entities 
for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. For example:

In addition, the CCG has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government bodies. 
Most of these transactions have been with Darlington Borough Council.

During 2014/15 the CCG undertook transactions with the following CCG Governing Body members or members of the key management staff, or 
parties related to any of them:
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21. Events after the end of the reporting period

22. Losses and special payments

There were no losses or special payments identified in 2015/16 (2014/15: none).

23. Financial performance targets

CCGs have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).

The CCG's performance against those duties was as follows:

2015/16 2015/16 2014/15 2014/15
Target Performance Target Performance

Expenditure not to exceed income 146,376 144,608 140,226 138,463
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions -                      -                      -                        -                      
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions 146,376           144,608           140,226            138,463           
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not 
exceed the amount specified in Directions -                      -                      -                        -                      

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does 
not exceed the amount specified in Directions -                      -                      -                        -                      
Revenue administration resource use does not 
exceed the amount specified in Directions 2,368               2,353               2,597                2,481               

Performance against the revenue expenditure duties is further analysed below:

2015/16 2015/16 2015/16
Programme 

Resource
Administration 

Resource Total
£000 £000 £000

Revenue resource 144,008           2,368                146,376           
Net operating cost for the financial year 142,255           2,353                144,608           
Underspend against revenue resource 1,753               15                     1,768               

2014/15 2014/15 2014/15
Programme 

Resource
Administration 

Resource Total
£000 £000 £000

Revenue resource 137,629           2,597                140,226           
Net operating cost for the financial year 135,982           2,481                138,463           
Underspend against revenue resource 1,647               116                   1,763               

There are no post balance sheet events which will have a material effect on the financial statements of the CCG.

The CCG received no capital resource during 2015/16 and incurred no capital expenditure (2014/15: none).
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